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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL.

Office of the State Geological Survey,
University, Mississippi,
June 10, 1926.

To His Excellency, Governor Henry L. Whitfield, Chairman,
and Members of the Geological Commission:

GENTLEMEN ;

For more than ten years investigations of the archeology
of the state have been carried on by Dr. Calvin S. Brown,

Archeologist of the State Geological Survey. Dr. Brown is

on the professorial staff of the State University, but has
found time during his vacations to make full and careful
studies of all available archeological collections from this
state, to do much field work, and to make large collections for
the state, which are now on exhibition in the Survey and
University Museums.

The results of Dr. Brown’s work are embodied in an
excellent Report beautifully illustrated with more than three
hundred and fifty plates on copper made from photographs.

I feel that this Report is a credit not only to the author but
to the Geological Survey and to the state. I therefore pre-
sent it for publication.

Respectfully submitted,
E. N. Lowe, Director.
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PREFACE.

The author has attempted to give in this volume a sys-
tematic idea of the different types of Indian remains found
in the state of Mississippi. Believing that illustrations are more
effective than descriptions he has given as many pictures of
artifacts as circumstances permitted. It is believed that every
illustration in the book represents an object from this state.

The author wishes to express first of all his deep and
lasting obligation to Dr. E. N. Lowe, State Geologist, for the
invitation to write this book and for constant encouragement
during the course of its preparation.

He wishes also to thank Dr. Dunbar Rowland, Director
of Archives and History, of Jackson; Mr. Victor C. Barringer
of Monroe, La.; Dr. J. A. K. Birchett of Vicksburg; Mr.
Charles W. Clark of Clarksdale; Mr. J. E. Gift of Corinth;
Mr. Fred Schubach of Memphis; and Mr. Andrew Learned,
Mr. George Kelley, and Mr. W. A, Harris of Natchez; all of
whom have helped to make archeological specimens accessible
to the writer.

Two efficient collectors, Mr. Brevoort Butler of Enola,
and Mr. E. R. Ballard of Winona, have passed from the field
of action.

Mr. Will Ticer of New Albany, Mr. Ben H. McFarland
of Aberdeen, the G. B. Hansell estate of Nettleton, Mr. F. T.
Bessac of Natchez, and Mr. H. K. Williams of Haynes Bluff,
have given to the Survey good collections of archeological
material, and hence made permanent contributions to their
state. Others have made smaller donations.

The directors of the great museums thruout the country
have co-operated with that spirit of helpfulness which is
characteristic of scientific men.
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Mr. Daniel of Jackson, Mr. Major and Mr. Barrow of
Oxford, with their skill in photography, have contributed to
the artistic appearance of the book, as have also Miss Pauline
Wright (now Mrs. Nichols), Prof. Raymond Mathews, and
Mr. Charles A. Barton with their skill in drawing.

To all these, and to many others who have given their aid
in some form or other, the author expresses his gratitude.

Among the more helpful publications touching the arche-
ology of Mississippi or adjacent territory, the following may
be especially mentioned:

1.

2.

3.

N

10.

11.

SQUIER AND Davis: Ancient Monuments of the Miss.
Valley, Washington, 1848.

JonEes, CuarLEs C.: Antiquities of the Southern
Indians, New York, 1873.

JoNEs, JosEpH: Aboriginal Remains of Tennessee,
Smiths. Contrib. to Knowl., Vol. 22, 1876.

THomas: Mound Exploration, 12th Ann. Rept. of
Bu. of Am. Ethn., Washington, 1894.

. THrUsTON: Antiquities of Tennessee, Cincinnati,

1897.

McGuire: Pipes and Smoking Customs of the Amer-
ican Aborigines, Washington, (1898) 1899.

CuLin: The Dickeson Collection of Am. Antiquities,
Philadelphia, 1900.

HorMmes: Aboriginal Pottery of the Eastern United
States, 20th Ann. Rept. of Bu. of Am. Ethn.,
Washington, 1903.

Peaopy: Exploration of Mounds, Coahoma County,’
Miss., Vol. III, no. 2, Papers of the Peabody
Museum of Am. Arch., Cambridge, Mass., 1904.

Moore: Certain Aboriginal Remains of Mobile Bay
and Miss. Sound, Philadelphia, 1905.

Moore: Certain Mounds of Arkansas and Missis-
sippi, Philadelphia, 1908.
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12, Moore: Some Aboriginal Sites on Mississippi River,
Philadelphia, 1911,

13. SwanTon: Indian Tribes of the Lower Miss. Valley,
Bull. 43, Bu. of Am. Ethn., Washington, 1911.

In the description of mounds and earth-works in the first
chapter of this book the author has drawn freely from his
predecessors in the field, Mr. Cyrus Thomas, Dr. Charles
Peabody, and Mr. Clarence B. Moore. It seems desirable to
summarize here in convenient form all that has been done in
the investigation of the mounds of the state, even tho the
account should run to considerable length. Unaltered quota-
tions have been indicated by quotation marks, but many con-
densed descriptions have not been so indicated; the indebted-
ness however has been acknowledged in every case. Thruout
the book mounds and other earth-works are named prefer-
ably by towns and geographical designations rather than by
land owners, for the reason that geographic deswnahons are
more permanent.

In giving the dimensions of objects the scale refers always
to linear measurements unless otherwise stated.

Of the three hundred and fifty-four illustrations used in
this book more than three hundred are here published for the
first time; the source of the others is acknowledged.

The sympathetic reader will keep in mind that the mate-
rial on which this study is based is scattered in many collec-
tions both public and private and is in many cases difficult of
access, and that the book has been written under the stress of
more pressing obligations, and that the progress of its prepa-
ration has often been interrupted. Such as it is the author
gives it to the people of Mississippi and to the archeologists
of the world in the hope that it will increase the knowledge of
the prehistoric life of the state and of America.

: CaLvin S. Brown.
January, 1924.






POSTSCRIPT.

Since this manuscript was prepared Mr. Warren K.
Moorehead has conducted extensive investigations in the
vicinity of Natchez; it is hoped that he will publish a report
on the Natchez field soon.

Mr. Henry B. Collins, Jr., is at present doing some explo-
ration in this state for the Bureau of American Ethnology
and making anthropometric observations on the living Choc-
taws in Mississippi.

Dr. J. A. Davies presented his collection to the University
and the Geological Survey in September, 1924, and it was
moved in that month to the University; he died on the 21st of
December of the same year. A complete account of the Walls
culture is reserved for later publication.

C.S. B.
June, 1926.
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CHAPTER L
MOUNDS AND EARTH-WORKS.

MOUNDS IN GENERAL.

The State of Mississippt abounds in those ancient remains
known as Indian mounds or tumuli. They are found most
frequently along the streams and in the valleys and lowlands,
but also occur in the uplands and among the hills. In size,
shape, and structure they vary greatly.

Many of the mounds, especially the smaller ones, are
conical in shape, and usually rounded at the top; tho some
of the conical mounds are truncated or have flat tops. Many
of the larger mounds are rectangular or four-sided and have
flat tops. The inclination of the sides varies from a very
gentle slope in some to a very steep slope in others. In some
cases the approach or roadway leading up the side of a large
mound can still be recognized. In a few mounds the outline
of the base is quite irregular; tho so far as I have observed,
it in no case represents the shape of man or of the lower ani-
mals; I have observed no effigy mounds in Mississippi.

The size of the mounds varies from scarcely perceptible
swellings of the ground less than a foot high to immense
hillocks fifty or sixty feet in elevation, with an area of one-
fifth of an acre on top. The famous Nanih Waiya has
a base 218 by 140 feet and is 22 feet high. The large
mound at Oliver, excavated by Dr. Peabody, measures 190
feet from north to south and 180 feet from east to west and
has a vertical height of 26 feet. The Ingomar rectangular
mound is about 222 by 165 feet and is 27 feet high. The
largest of the Leland mounds is nearly 200 feet long, about
175 feet wide, and 30 feet high. The largest mound of the
Anna group near Natchez is 50 feet high. The great central



2 ARCHEOLOGY OF MISSISSIPPI.

mound of the Winterville group is 55 feet high; and the great
central mound at Mound Place near the mouth of Lake
George is 55 or 60 feet high. The Selsertown plateau or
platform with its superincumbent mounds is much greater
in cubic contents than any of these, but it is not entirely
artificial.

Mounds are found singly or in groups. The single
mounds are usually small and conical. In the smaller groups
of mounds there are three or four, in the largest many more.
The Ingomar group in Union County contains or did contain
fourteen. The Edmonds group contains fifteen, including
several less than two feet high. The Winterville group con-
tains fifteen mounds. The Lake George group near Holly

-Bluff, Yazoo County, contains twenty-five or more mounds
within the enclosure and two outside. A few groups are
surrounded by earth-walls and moats or ditches, as the Lake
George group just mentioned.

The mounds are generally composed of soil or earth sim-
ilar to that surrounding them. In some cases the pits or
excavations from which the earth was taken for the construc-
tion of the tumuli may still be seen, as in the Batesville group
and the Lake George group. In most cases, however, there
now remains no depression to show the site from which the
earth was taken. Perhaps in many cases it was taken up
over a relatively large area and to a very small depth, the
laborers thus getting the dirt in the easiest way. In addition
to the local soil or earth used in the construction of the
mounds, there are sometimes found ashes, burnt clay, shells,
and refuse matter.

As to the purpose or object of the mounds, that was dif-
ferent in different cases. Some were used for burial pur-
poses, as is evidenced by the fact that skeletons of human
beings are still found in them. Frequently where there are a
number of mounds together one of the smaller ones is a burial
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tumulus. Since many mounds are at present used for ceme-
teries, some by the white people, others by the negroes, care
must be taken not to confuse an intrusion burial with an
original burial. Some of the mounds seem to have been used
as residence sites and are therefore called domiciliary
mounds. Evidence of this use is presented by the burnt-
clay floors and in other ways, as well as by the testimony of
early travelers. Some mounds may have been used in mili-
tary operations, as certainly earth-walls were. The embank-
ments at Philipp in Leflore County (fig. 15) seem to be of
this nature; they are long and irregular and run parallel with
the Tallahatchie River, ending near two sloughs. Some
mounds may have been used as signal or look-out stations.
Some may have been used in religious or other ceremonials.
Finally, some may have been used as refuge places in times
of high water ; certain it is that some of these ancient mounds
have been used very effectively by the present inhabitants
and their cattle in times of overflow. A few mounds have
been built for this purpose in recent years by white people.

As to the contents of the mounds, they may be largely
surmised from what was said about the purpose of the
mounds in the preceding paragraph. Most of them contain
nothing, except perhaps potsherds and fragments of flint and
such other refuse as was lying about on the surface when the
mound was being constructed. Some contain beds of ashes,
charcoal, and burnt clay. Posts and pieces of wood are some-
times found. The burial mounds contain skeletons or parts
of skeletons and sometimes beads, pottery, stone implements,
and other objects of ancient workmanship. The mounds do
not contain treasure; gold and silver were virtually unknown
to the Amerind in this part of the country upon the coming
of the white man.

As to the age of the mounds, some date back centuries
before Columbus, no doubt; others are more recent; and
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some were built, in part at least, after Columbus, as is shown
by the fact that they contain objects of European or Cauca-
sian manufacture. It is probable that some mounds are the
result of additions extending over considerable lapse of time.
There is no reason for supposing that the mounds were built
by any other race than the Indians. Early European trav-
elers saw them in use. The White Apple mounds near
Natchez are historic. A great national council of the Choc-
taws was convened at Nanih Waiya under the leadership of
Greenwood Laflore in 1828 ‘ _

The word mound as here used signifies a structure of
earth intentionally thrown up as such; the mounds of Europe
and Asia and of the Cliff-dwellers’ country in the United
States often represent the remains of a structure or village
more or less crumbled or covered with dust.

In addition to the true mounds there are also found in
Mississippi refuse-heaps and shell-heaps similar to the kitchen
middens of Northern Europe, stone-heaps or cairns, and also
earth-walls, enclosures, fortifications, and cemeteries.

IN LAFAYETTE COUNTY.

The little mound shown in figure 1 is located in Lafayette
County one mile west of the south-west corner of the Uni-
versity property. It is a typical small conical mound, seven
and a half feet high and fifty feet in diameter. It stands on
the brow of a hill and overlooks a long valley. On top of it
are growing trees of medium size. About it have been found
flint arrow-points, fragments of pottery, hammer-stones, and
part of a mortar or maize grinder. A slight opening was
made in the north-eastern part of the mound before 1906. A
large hole was dug into the south-western part a few years
ago, probably in 1917, by some unknown person. Apparently
nothing was found, for when I repaired the mound in 1918

*Halbert: Nanih Waiya, in Pub. Miss. Hist. Soc., vol. I1, Oxford, Miss., 1899.
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there was almost no sign of potsherds, flints, or other foreign
substances, only the soil itself, which had been thrown out.
Figure 2 shows a somewhat larger mound at Cornish,
Lafayette County, as it appeared in December, 1913, It was
then 12 or 14 feet high. Since the photograph was taken the
mound has been partially cut down and a residence built upon

IFre. 1. Small conical mound, near the University of Mississippi, height 7.5 feet,
April 28, 1912. C. S. B.

it by Dr. Webster. Nothing of consequence was found in
removing the upper part of this mound.

Two miles down the Yokona valley from the mound just
mentioned, not far above Oliver bridge, and about 10 miles
south-east of Oxford, are the Slaughter mounds, a group of
four standing in an open field. The most northerly one is the
tallest, being about 17 or 18 feet high, and is slightly
elongated toward the east (fig. 3). This mound has been
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partially tunneled from the south. The other three mounds
have been plowed over and no doubt considerably flattened.
Near the mounds, especially to the east of the smaller ones,
quantities of potsherds, flints, and hammer-stones abound,
and rarer pieces may be found occasionally. One of the axes

Fic. 2. Mound at Cornish, Lafayette Co., height 12 to 14 feet, Dec. 12, 1913.
C. S. B. Now occupied by a house.
(no. 189) pictured in a later chapter was found in this field
by Miss Kathleen Baldwyn.

At the confluence of Harrison Creek and Tallahatchie
River in the northern part of Lafayette County, there is a
considerable mound between the two streams near the creek
side; apparently it is rectangular, tho at the time of each of
my visits the vegetation was so rank that it was difficult to
study the mound. It is nearly enclosed by the creek, a depres-
sion, and a slough. The land on three sides is subject to
overflow.



MOUNDS AND EARTH-WORKS. 7

About 1890 a mound was demolished by treasure hunters
in the Tallahatchie bottom north-west of Oxford some dis-
tance east of the Teckville bridge. It was probably 8 feet
high, judging from a small portion of the mound which still
stands. It is said that in earlier times there was a semi-
circular rampart of earth passing to the south of the mound
and connecting ecast and west with water, thus forming an
enclosure.

I16. 3. Mound near Oliver bridge, Lafayvette Co., 17 or 18 feet high, Dee.
12, 1913, C. 8. B.

At the juncture of the Clear Creek valley and the Talla-
hatchie valley on the Haley place are two mounds, partly
opened many years ago by Dr. Joseph Jones. Irom this
vicinity came the fine stone vessel, first figured by Dr. Jones'
in his Antiquitics in Tennessee, and illustrated in figure 172
of this book.

Squier and Davis, on the authority of the Rev. R. Morris
of Mount Sylvan Academy, Lafayette Co., described seventy
years ago two groups of earth-works in western Lafayette
Co., and gave diagrams of the same.”

Hones: Explor. of the Aborig. Remains of Tenn. (called thruout Antiquities in
Tennessee), Washington, 1876, p. 144, fig. 85.

'Squier and Davis: Anc. Mon. of the Miss, Valley, Washington (1847) 1848, pp.
110 and fol., and pl. 38, nos. 2 and 3.
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The former (no. 2) is situatedin T. 4 S.,, R. 7 W. [T. 7
S.,, R. 4 W.?] upon a bluff above a small creek, five miles
south-east of Tallahatchie River, and consists of an embank-
ment of earth about 3 feet high and an exterior ditch of
corresponding dimensions; the side next to the creek is not
entrenched, being protected by the high bluff. Within the
work are several low mounds [four in the diagram]. The
area of the enclosure is 5 acres.

The latter (no. 3) is situated on the left bank of Clear
Creek, near Mount Sylvan, and occupies a high point of land,
the bluff on the right being 40 feet high. The enclosure is
quadrangular in form and consists of an embankment or
earth-wall 30 feet wide at base, 12 feet wide on top, and
about 3 feet high, with a gate-way in the western wall. There
are no mounds within the enclosure, but there are three small
ones outside, one near ‘the gate. At the foot of the bluff
there are abundant springs of water.

The present writer has not succeeded in locating either
of these enclosures, tho his search has been by no means
thoro. Neither the embankments nor the mounds were high,
and the plow could easily have leveled them in the seventy
years that have elapsed since they were described.

About a mile and a half south by south-east of Oxford
there is a camp-site in the Temple field, where good diminu-
tive triangular points and the usual fragments may be found.

About three miles north-west from Oxford at Davidson
spring on the College Hill road is a camp-site, where I have
found two mortars, a notched ax, and many flaked points.

Near Bay Springs between Quick’s upper and middle
lakes about ten miles north-east of Oxford there is a camp-
site abounding in fragments of pottery and flint, with some
shells and bones. Here I have found good small triangular
points, a number of hammer-stones, and other artifacts.
Workmen report the plowing up of bones. There is plenty
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of spring water nearby. There is another Indian site on the
hill occupied by the Hickey garden.

Many other mounds and camp-sites exist in the county,
but I shall not attempt to enumerate all. It is likewise impos-
sible to enumerate all the earth-works and sites thruout the
state; in the following pages, however, I call attention to
many of these, some on my own authority, some on the
authority of others who have made earlier reports on differ-
ent localities.

IN NORTH-EAST MISSISSIPPI.

All the counties of north-east Mississippi show mounds
and other remains of Indian occupation.

Moore' found one small mound in the extreme north-east
corner of, the state in his expedition up the Tennessee River.
It is about one mile west-south-west from Hubbard Landing,
near the residence of Mr. R. L. Hubbard, to whom it belongs;
the height is about 4 feet; the diameter 30 feet; the central
part has been completely dug away.

There is a small mound west of the road near Keownville,
about nine miles north-east of New Albany, Union Co.,
which has been partially opened. A camp-site or burying-
ground three miles south-west of New Albany shows numer-
ous crude hammer-stones, mortars, and other artifacts. Here
was found the large brass kettle containing a quantity of
late ornaments and implements, described in the chapter on
post-Columbian material.

About Tupelo, Lee Co., and in adjacent counties, Indian
graves of comparatively recent date are encountered. These
sometimes contain objects of silver, bronze, and iron, even of
glass and chinaware. In 1916, the workmen grading for the
new home of Mr. Robert Clark two miles south of Tupelo
encountered human bones and trade beads.

"Moore: Aborig. Sites on Tenn. River, Philadelphia, 1915, p. 234,
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About Tupelo are also remains of ponds or reservoirs on
tops of hills, which are said to have been found there by the
oldest white inhabitants, and which are called “Indian reser-
voirs.” Mr. William Robins showed me one on his farm
about a mile south of Tupelo and spoke of three others within
his knowledge.

Some interesting material was obtained from a grave
near Nettleton, and presented to the Survey by the Hansell
family. Here there is a large camp-site heavily strewn with
fragments of shells, pottery, and stone.

Several mounds and burial fields are reported in the
vicinity of Aberdeen, Monroe Co. Mr. Ben H. McFarland
gave the Survey a small collection of material from this
territory.

Samuel A. Agnew, of Guntown, Lee Co., wrifing to the
Smithsonian Institution' in January, 1868, mentions a num-
ber of mounds in the north-eastern part of the state, a list of
which is here given for record:

No. 1, 10 ft. high, on land of Joseph Agnew, on Camp

Creek, south-eastern Tippah Co.

No. 2, about 10 ft. high, 6 miles west of Ellistown, Pon-
totoc Co., near James Wiley's.

No. 3, 6 or 8 ft. high, 5 miles south-east of New Albany,
in Pontotoc Co., near John M. Simpson’s; contained
human bones.

No. 4, on north side of Tallahatchie bottom on road from

New Albany to Ripley [Union Co.]; top flattened for
a residence.

No. 5, 10 to 15 ft. high, between Butchiecunifila and
Oconitahatchie Creeks, about 10 miles south-west of
New Albany, near William Parks’s; quadrangular,
with flat top.

'Agnew: Ann. Rept. of Smiths. Inst. for 1867, Washington, 1868, pages 404, 405.
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No. 6, in Tishomingo Creek bottom, 5 miles west of Gun-
town, Lee Co., near Dr. Selman’s; area of summit
from a quarter to a half acre.

No. 7, 10 ft. high, on same creek, near Duncan Clark’s.

No. 8, 10 ft. high, in same vicinity, near T. A. Sullivan’s.

No. 9, on Fane place, in same neighborhood, surface culti-
vated; silver thimble plowed up on it in 1860.

No. 10, near Birmingham, Lee Co., on Longbridge farm,
surface cultivated, dug into 8 or 10 years ago, yielding
pieces of pottery. Silver ear-rings taken from ancient
graves nearby. ’

No. 11, 2 miles above Baldwin [Prentiss Co. ?], 50 yards
from the Mobile and Ohio railroad, of considerable
size, dug into.

No. 12, 8 ft. high, 6 miles south-east of no. 11, on Mich-
enor’s, near Manatachie Creek.

No. 13, large mound near Knight’s mill, Lee Co., with
dwelling and well on it.

No. 14, 8 ft. high, 2 miles east of Ellistown. Union Co.,
near Dr. Maas. :

No. 15, 8 or 10 ft. high, 1 mile south of Guntown, Lee
Co., on Mean’s farm, cultivated.

No. 16, group of 7 or 8 mounds, in Twenty-mile Creek
bottom, & to 15 miles east of Guntown.

No. 17, mound reported in Yorribie Creek bottom, 3 miles
south of Birmingham, on John A. McNiel’s place, 100
ft. high [!].

No. 18, two other large mounds near no. 17 in the same
creek bottom.

Agnew also mentions seeing nearly twelve years earlier,
between John’s Creek and Friendship Church in Pontotoc Co.,
remains of ancient ditches or embankments enclosing plots of
ground in the shape of parallelograms, which he did not
examine closely.
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STONE-HEAPS OR CAIRNS.

In March, 1918, in company with Dr. Lowe, State Geolo-
gist, and Mr. Will Ticer, I examined seven stone-heaps in
the vicinity of Dumas, Tippah Co., in the hills forming the
head-waters of the Hatchie and the Tallahatchie.

On a high ridge five or six miles north-east of Dumas,
ten miles west of Booneville, and fourteen miles east by

Fic. 4. Stone-heap or cairn in the Hatchie Hills, Tippah Co., height 4 feet,
P N

191855 S, TR,

south-east of Ripley, we examined a fine cairn or stone-heap,
located directly on one of the Ripley-Booneville roads (fig.
4). Itis about 4 feet high and elliptical in shape, the longer
axis east and west being 34 feet, the shorter north and south
being 25 feet. It stands on a very sharp ridge, commanding
a view of five to eight miles to the west thru a valley. The
heap is made of small pieces of iron sandstone, which is
abundant in the vicinity. These pieces seem to show no
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signs of artificial shaping. Holes in the top of the cairn
show that it has been entered. Mr. Joe H. Bartlett, our
excellent guide, says he has known the cairn for fifty years.

There is a second cairn about one mile east or south-
east of the first. The average height is about 4 feet and the
axes 34 feet and 30 feet, the longer axis being north-east by
south-west. This cairn has a longitudinal opening thru the
middle, from which a skeleton is said to have been taken
fifteen or twenty years ago. The stones and everything are
of same character as in the preceding heap.

Three-fourths of a mile from Noah Morgan’s shop twelve
miles west of Booneville is a tall isolated peak commanding a
fine view in almost every direction. On the very top is a cairn
five feet or more high, of iron sandstone. It has been opened
to the bottom. The diameter is perhaps slightly smaller than
in the case of the other two. It is a beautiful cairn with
beautiful location, but unfortunately mutilated.

Another quite small cairn is on a round (possibly arti-
ficial) hill-top. This heap is probably artificial, tho that is
not so certain as in the preceding cases.

A fifth cairn, quite small, is found near Mr. Bartlett’s
house.

A sixth cairn, small and typical, near Mr. Bartlett’s, is
probably two feet high and 18 or 20 feet in diameter. The
situation is rather low down on the hill slope. The stones
have been pretty well cleared from the surface of the hillside
for some distance about the cairn.

The seventh cairn is situated on a high hill just east of
the ditched channel of the Hatchie River about a mile or a
mile and a half south of Mr. Bartlett’s. This one was appar-
ently of about the size of the first and second or a little larger,
but has been badly torn up. A large tree seems to have been
growing in the edge of it. It is located high up on the hill but
not on the very highest point.
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The seven stone-heaps or cairns which we examined that
day had all been disturbed. Mr. Bartlett, who has lived all
his life of sixty-two years in the vicinity, says he knows of
probably half a dozen more, all of which have been opened.

Mr. J. E. Pearce of Ripley tells me that he knows of sev-
eral stone-heaps in Tippah Co., one twelve miles north of
Ripley on his father’s farm.

Wailes' made the following note in 1854: “A few miles
north of Ripley in Tippah Co., on a ridge where ferruginous
sandstone abounds, fulgorites are numerous, and appear to
have been collected, with other fragments of the rock, and
piled up so as to form a mound, supposed to be one of the
monumental tumuli of the aborigines, and similar in char-
acter to the cairns of Scotland.”

Two stone mounds or stone-heaps along with other inter-
esting mounds are reported in Alcorn Co., about twenty miles
south-west of Corinth and near Kossuth.

A letter received in July, 1926, as the proofs of this book
were being read, tells of stone mounds or cairns, 3 to 5 feet
high, five miles from Belmont, Tishomingo Co.

Further investigation of the cairns of north-east Missis-
sippi should be made. It is a pity that so many of them have
been mutilated.

THE INGOMAR MOUNDS,

There is an interesting group of earth-works near Ingo-
mar in Union County, (fig. 5), tho much of its former char-
acter has been destroyed by cultivation and exploration.
This ancient monument is located about one mile south-west
from the station in Ingomar and is within the corporation of
that town, its more exact location being the south-east quar-
ter of sec. 12 and the north-east quarter of sec. 13 of T. 8 S,
R. 2 E. Itis a short distance north of Okanitahatchie Creek.

'Wailes: Agriculture and Geology of Miss., Jackson, Miss., 1854, p. 220.




o

MOUNDS AND EARTII-WORKS. 1

This group of earth-works was explored in 1885 by Gerard
Fowke and a full account published by Cyrus Thomas' in
1894. That account is condensed in the following description
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Fic. 5. Ingomar mounds, Union Co., area of enclosure about 70 acres.
From 12th Ann. Rept. of Bu. of Am. Tithn, 1894, p. 268.

There are fourteen mounds belonging to the group,
twelve of which are together, the other two (not shown in
the ﬁom'e) being one east and the other west, about half a

*12th Ann, I\eport of the Bu. of Ethn., Washington, 1894, pages 267-78.
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mile from the large mound, which is the most prominent of
the group. The general level of the field is about 50 feet
above the creek bottoms to the north and south.

The large mound, no. 14, is a flat-topped quadrilateral.
At the bottom, the sides beginning with the south-east
measure 153, 210, 177, and 234 feet; on the top 87, 124, 94,
119 feet. From these measurements it will be seen that the
slope of the sides is not uniform. On the north-east side is
a graded way 20 feet wide at the top and running out 45 feet
from the base. This figure, 20 feet, probably represents its
original width on top along the whole length, tho it is now
much worn down. The height of the mound is 27 feet.

The smaller mounds were located by bearings from the
center of the large mound, but the distances to all except 11
and 12 were measured from the south corner; for 11 and 12

the measurements were from the north corner. Mounds 5
and 13 are not shown on the plot.
Mound Bearing Distance Diameter Height
number in degrees in feet in feet in feet
1 N. 8 W. 352 64 14
2 S. 10 E. 165 100 4
3 S. 34 L. 1056 120 6
4 S. 53% E. 891 54 2
5 S. 80 E. half mile 50 4
6 S. 58 W. 792 28 3
7 S. 6615 L. 330 120 7
8 S. 23 E. 1155 120 6
9 S. 23% E. 693 150 7
10 S. 9y E. 990 160 8
11 N. 2414 W. 891 120 4
12 N. 2% E. 561 S0 3
13 N.70 W. half mile plowed level

All the mounds except the first have been plowed over
until they are probably 3 to 5 feet lower than when built.

Before the soil had been cultivated an embankment could
be traced around the twelve central mounds which was about
2 feet high and ten feet wide, with a ditch on the outside
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entirely around. The ditch was mostly and in some places
entirely filled up. At present no trace of it remains and the
embankment can be seen only for a few rods on the west
and north sides, where it has not been plowed over. It was
cut thru in several places and showed no trace of wood; this
however is not positive evidence that no palisades existed,
for it may have heen washed down farther than the posts
would have been sunk, the area being much worn by drains.
The carth forming it is the same as the surrounding soil, and
was probably thrown inward from the ditch.

The line of the wall is shown as it was traced out by Mr.
Parks, the first permanent settler of the country, and may
not be correct, especially on the southern line; as laid down
here it runs over mounds 8 and 10. Beginning at the north-
west corner the bearings and measurements of the earth-wall
are as follows:

From i Bearing Distance
station ‘ in degrees | in feet
1 to 2 S. 8 L. 792
2 to 3 S. 74 L. 957
3 to 4 S. 734 W. 1930
4 to 5 N. 7734 W. 1505
5 to 1 N. 1 L 1937

The enclosure is thus virtually a quadrilateral with the north
boundary 1749 feet long and containing about 70 acres.

In the space inclosed by mounds 3, 4, and 9 is a cemetery,
as shown by the bones and numerous fragments of pottery
plowed up. Some arrow-points, beads, and a number of
pitted stones were found scattered about on the surface. The
arrow-points are all small and chipped from water-worn
pebbles of jasper. With one skeleton exhumed here were
found an iron pipe, some silver ornaments, copper beads,
wrought nails, and a piece of glass.

A pond of 5 or 6 acres begins at the western line of the
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embankment. The earth put into the larger mound was prob-
ably taken from this place, as all the different sorts of earth
used in the mounds are to be found in the field or adjacent
swamps.

In exploring the mounds the dirt was in every case
removed down to the original soil and far enough outwardly
to make it certain that the limit of the mound was reached.
Trenches varying in width from 6 to 10 feet were carried to
the center and space cleared out about the center sufficient to
show that nothing of interest remained.

Mound 1, located west of the large central mound, was
the most prominent of the smaller ones. Four trenches were
led to the center of this mound (fig. 166 in the Bureau
report). In it were found human skeletons, shell beads, frag-
ments of thick red pottery, ashes, charcoal, traces of wood,
quartz pebbles, and holes below the surface level filled with
ooze. The arrangement of the earth in this mound indi-
cates that the original mound was much smaller than it is
now and that the skeleton in the ashes was at the center.
Afterward the mound was added to on the eastern side. The
lenticular masses show that the dirt had been carried in
baskets or skins and thrown in without any attempt at strati-
fication in the older part of the mound. The masses were
from 12 to 18 inches across and from 4 to 6 inches thick.
The lower side, as they lay in the mound, was always darker
in color than the upper side. Occasionally a little charcoal
or a fragment of bone or pottery occurred in the mound.

In mound 2 nothing was found except a small piece of
pottery of very neat design that had probably been dumped
in with the dirt. The dirt was in layers of regular thickness,
as tho it had been spread when deposited. On the south-east
edge was a layer of mingled dirt and charcoal 6.5 feet across,
from 2 to 4 inches in thickness; a large amount of broken
pottery was found scattered thru it, but no ashes.
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At a distance of 75 feet west of the center of mound 3 was
a fire-place, on the original surface, covered with a foot of
dirt that had been washed down from the mound. Along
with pieces of pottery and animal bones was a piece of iron
that had apparently been a brace for a saddle-bow ; this was
8 inches under the top of the ashes and below most of the
pottery found. In the trench on the west side was found one
blade of a pair of scissors. Three feet above the surface at
the center was an ash bed, 6 inches thick in the middle, 6
feet in diameter, curving upward or dish-shaped and running
to an edge on every side. It rested directly upon earth that
had been dumped like that in the first mound, and was in very
thin layers as tho many successive deposits had been made
and spread out. Within an inch of the bottom was a small
piece of greenish glass, apparently broken from a glass bottle.
Resting upon the ashes, tho of less extent, was a mass 12
inches thick of charcoal, dirt, ashes, and broken pottery, in
which lay an iron knife and a thin silver plate stamped with
the Spanish coat of arms (figure 173 in the Bureau report).
At the top was a thin layer of charcoal where a fire had been
extinguished. There was a want of conformity between this
mass and the surrounding dirt, which shows it may have
been of later origin; that the mound had been opened after its
completion and afterward restored to its former shape; but
the bed of ashes was undoubtedly as old as the mound itself,
so that altho the iron knife and silver plate offer no positive
proof as to age, the piece of glass is strong evidence that the
mound was constructed after its builders had dealings with
the whites. It may be remarked that this group is located in
the area occupied by the Chickasaws.

Mound 4 was made thruout of a heavy gray clay, such as
forms the ground to the north of it. The embankment ran,
according to local belief, directly over this mound; it was
therefore closely examined for any signs of palisades, but
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none were found; nor is there now the slightest indication
here of either wall or ditch.

Mound 5, not shown in the plot, is outside the enclosure
to the east. A wide trench thru it exposed thirteen skulls,
with a few fragments of other bones. They were all within
ten feet of the center and arranged in three layers, the first
on the original surface, the second nearly two feet above, and
the third at about the same distance above that. The skulls
belonged to persons of different ages, from the child whose
first teeth were beginning to appear, to the aged individual
whose teeth were worn to the gums. With the oldest was a
burnt clay pipe, the only relic found in the mound. The
bones were put in without regard to position; a skull and a
rib, for example, or a femur and a jawbone lying together.
All the skulls were of one shape and that very like the modern
Indian skull.

Mound 6, like mound 4, was on the supposed line of
embankment, but no trace of wood in the mound or of a
ditch outside could be seen. Probably mounds 4 and 6
were at a break in the embankment forming a passage way
thru it.

Mound 7 showed the same marks of dumping as in
mounds 1 and 3. More charcoal and burnt dirt were found in
this than in any other mound opened, but they seem to have
been thrown in simply because it was convenient. The
arrangement and material of the mound show that dirt had
been carried in from different places at the same time. One
burial, apparently intrusive, was found.

Mound 8 was built partly on the slope of the ravine to the
west. Near the center were some shreds of a coarse woven
cloth. Six feet north of the center, in the original soil, was
a hole 18 inches across and 14 inches deep, the sides burnt
hard as a brick, filled with charcoal and dirt. Seven feet
north-east of the center was a similar but smaller hole. The
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gray layer of clay at the bottom of the mound was undis-
turbed over both these spots, showing that the mound was
built after this part of the field had been occupied.

The remaining mounds were not opened. Of those opened
only no. 1 and no. 5 were found to be burial mounds.

Such was the Ingomar group of earth-works in 1885 as
described in the report of the Bureau of Ethnology. The pres-
ent writer made a brief visit to this ancient site in September,
1918. The great central mound is still almost intact, a fine
example of the truncated pyramid type. The sides are very
steep and difficult of ascent. The approach or ramp on the
north-east side is not so prominent as in the early account.
Mounds 1 and 7 do not appear to have been entirely cultivated
since the explorations, the excavations being still clearly
traced. Mound 2 is in cultivation and quite flat. The location
of the pond on the west is evident, tho the land is in cultiva-
tion. Nothing of the wall or moat was seen from the central
mound.

IN LOWNDES COUNTY,
In 1901 Mr. Clarence B. Moore made a trip of investiga-
tion down the Tombigbee River, the greater part of the terri-

tory covered being in Alabama. He lists the following mounds
and camp-sites in Lowndes Co., Mississippi':

Mound at Butler’s Gin, James Cox.

Mounds at Chowder Spring, Mustin, and Halbert and
Vaughn.

Mound at Halbert Lake, P. M. Halbert.

Camp-sites at Moore’s Bluff, J. W. T. Hairston, and W.
Snowton.

Camp-sites at Blue Rock Landing, A. B. Mybrick.

Mound and camp-sites near Wild Cat Bend, J. W. T.
Hairston.

"Moore: Certain Aborig. Remains on the Tombighee River, Philadelphia, 1901,
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Camp-site at Union Bluff, T. B. Franklin.

Mound opposite Union Bluff, J. W. T. Hairston.

Camp-site at Jim Creek, William Baldwin.

Several of these are described at some length by Mr.
Moore, whose descriptions are here condensed:

There is an oblong mound in a cultivated field about 200
paces south-south-east from Butler’s Landing, Lowndes Co.,
" on property of Mr. James Cox. Itis 8 feet high, with basal
dimensions of 128 feet and 180 feet, and plateau dimensions
of 80 feet and 137 feet. It has houses upon it. No investiga-
tion was allowed.

In a cultivated field, about 250 yards north-north-east
from the Chowder Spring Landing, on property of William
S. Mustin, Esq., is a mound of circular outline, 5 feet 8
inches high, 80 feet across the base. Part has been under
cultivation; on the other portion is a small log cabin. Con-
siderable excavation in various parts showed the mound to
be of sandy clay. This mound was probably domiciliary.

About 100 yards north-north-east from the preceding, in
woods bordering the field, is a mound of sandy clay on prop-
erty of Messrs. Halbert and Vaughn. Wash of freshets has
made its outline irregular. It is 5 feet 3 inches high and 90
feet by 104 feet across the base. The mound was largely
dug into by us to the base, including central parts, resulting
in the finding of several bunched burials and a number of
isolated bones. One small rude clay pot with a loop-shaped
handle at either side of the rim was found unassociated.

In the Burrell field, about one-half mile in a straight
course north-east from Wild Cat Bend, is a mound on the
property of J. W. T. Hairston, Esq. It is of clayey sand, 3
feet 2 inches high, and 60 feet by 70 feet across the base.
This mound was largely excavated without result. In the
same field was a dwelling-site, apparently, in which one skele-
ton was found.
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The Coleman mound, well known through all the district,
probably originally was a parallelogram in shape, but the
washing of high water has made the outline irregular. It
is about one mile in a northerly direction from Union Bluff,
Lowndes Co., on property of J. W. T. Hairston, Esq. It is
of the regular domiciliary type. At present there are a num-
ber of houses on it.

IN OKTIBBEIA COUNTY.

Prof. W. N. Logan describes briefly several mounds and
burial-grounds in Oktibbeha Co.; from his report' the fol-
lowing account is condensed:

One mound is located on the W. D. Walker place in the
western part of Starkville; it is now only a few feet high and
about 30 feet across, tho no doubt formerly much higher;
Indian pottery, arrow-heads, and bones have been taken from
excavations made in this mound.

An Indian burial-ground, from which pottery, arrow-
heads, and skeletons have been exhumed, is situated on a
small divide on the Aiken farm, two miles north of Stark-
ville. A similar burial-ground is situated about three miles
north-west of the Aiken place. A third is located on the
south side of Catalpha Creek about two miles south-east of
Sessumsville, on the Askew farm.

A mound 15 or 20 feet high and about 90 feet in diameter
is located on the White farm about half a mile north of the
junction of Walker and Hollis Creeks; from it artifacts and
skeletons have Dbeen taken. A large mound, from which
bones, the teeth of a mammoth, beads, and other relics are
said to have been taken, is situated on the north side of Lake
Harmon. An Indian battle-field and burial-ground has been
found on the Curry farm a few miles north-west of
Starkville.

'Logan: Geology of Oktibbeha Co., 1904, page 20.



24 ARCHEOLOGY OF MISSISSIPPI.

NANIH WAIYA,

The famous Nanih Waiya, which Halbert designates the
sacred mound of the Choctaws, stands in Winston County
about ten miles south-east of Noxapater (fig. 6). The name
signifies in Choctaw “slanting hill.” It is a typical rectangular
mound, 218 feet long by 140 feet wide at the base, thus cover-
ing seven-tenths of an acre. The axis is north-west by south-
east. The dimensions of the flat top are 132 feet by 56 feet,
the area being one-sixth of an acre. The height is 22 feet,
in some places nearly 25 feet. The slopes of the mound are
covered with trees; the top seems to have been cultivated. A
heavy rain set in during my survey of the site, July 6, 1917,
and prevented a completion of my study.

I visited the site again on August 3, 1923, and located one
section of the earth-wall or rampart near the residence, more
than half a mile from the great mound. This section of the
wall is now 2.5 to'4 feet high and about a hundred yards long.
The resident on the farm states that four sections of the
earth-wall still exist. The low mound about 250 yards to the
north-east of the great mound is now about 7 or 8 feet high,
and very much spread by cultivation. Artifacts are scarce.

The great Nanih Waiya retains its original height and is
still in a state of excellent preservation, tho the small mounds
and the wall have been much reduced. This historic mound
should be preserved for all time to come.

An early account of Nanih Waiya is that of B. L. C
Wailes, who visited the mound on the fifth of December,
1854. The following data are arranged from his manuscript
field notes of that date (page 151):

I visited the Indian mounds and entrenchment in the fork ~
of Nanawaya and Tallahaya, identified by tradition as the
place of origin or the birth-place of the Choctaws, who held it
in superstitious reverence as their mother. The height of the
principal mound is at least 50 feet; it is a parallelogram with
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corners rounded by plowing ; dimensions 180 or 200 feet east
and west by perhaps 100 or 105 feet north and south.

Some 200 yards to the north of the high mound is a cone
covering more extent, but only about 10 feet high. Some
small mounds nearly obliterated are between the two large
ones.

The wall or entrenchment goes around three sides of the
mound and in many places in the woods has trees of 4 feet
diameter growing upon it. The height in the most elevated
places is near 10 feet, the width 30 or 40 feet; in other places
it dwindles away to a slight embankment; in the clear land
east of the mounds it can scarcely be traced owing to the
“constant plowing. Many gaps or gate-ways have been left in
the wall, some of them 100 feet wide. The enclosure embraces
about a section or square mile.

Such is Wailes’s account of this ancient monument in
1854. The common tendency to over-estimate the height of
mounds may be noted in both his and the later account by
Halbert', which I here quote at some length:

“Nanih Waiya is situated on the west side of Nanih
Waiya Creek, about 50 yards from it, in the southern part
of Winston County, and about 400 yards from the Neshoba
County line. The mound is oblong in shape, lying north-west
and south-east, and about 40 feet in height. Its base covers
about an acre. Its summit, which is flat, has an area of one-
fourth of an acre.

“The mound stands on the south-eastern edge of a
circular rampart, which is about a mile and a half in circum-
ference. In using the word ‘circular’ reference is made to
the original form of the rampart, about one-half of which is
utterly obliterated by the plow, leaving only a semi-circle.

'Halbert: Nanih Waiya, the Sacred Mound of the Choctaws, Pub. of the Miss.
Hist. Scciety, Vol. II, Oxford, Miss., 1899, p. 223.
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This rampart is not, or rather was not, a continuous circle,
so to speak, as it has along at intervals a number of vacant
places or gaps, ranging from 20 to 50 yards wide. Accord-
ing to Indian tradition, there were originally 18 parts or sec-
tions of the rampart, with the same number of gaps. Ten of
these sections still remain, ranging from 50 to 150 yards in
length. All the sections near the mound have long since been
leveled by the plow, and in other places some of the sections
have been much reduced. But on the north, where the ram-
part traverses a primeval forest, it is still five feet high and
twenty feet broad at the base. The process of obliteration
has been very great since 1877, when the writer first saw
Nanih Waiya. Some of the sections that could then be
clearly traced in the field on the west have now utterly dis-
appeared. In regard to the rampart, it was, no doubt, sur-
mounted by palisades. As to the gaps in the rampart, the
writer is convinced that these gaps were left designedly as
places for the erection of wooden forts or towers, as addi-
tional protection to the town.

“About 250 yards north of Nanih Waiya is a small
mound, evidently a burial mound, as can safely be stated
from the numerous fragments of human bones that have been
exhumed from it by the plow and the hoe. The great num-
ber of stone relics, mostly broken, scattered for hundreds of
yards around Nanih Waiya, shows that it was the site of
prehistoric habitations. In addition to this the bullets and
other relics of European manufacture evidence the continuity
of occupancy down within the historic period.

“The magnitude of these ancient works—the mound and
the rampart—together with the legendary traditions con-
nected with them, leads one irresistibly to the conviction that
this locality was the great center of Choctaw population dur-
ing the prehistoric period. It should here be stated that the
symmetry of the mound has been somewhat marred by a
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tunnel which was cut into it in the summer of 1896 by some
treasure-seekers, who vainly hoped to unearth some wonder-
ful bonanza from out the deep bosom of Nanih Waiya.

“All the modern Choctaws living in Mississippi look upon
Nanih Waiya as the birth place and cradle of their race.
She is ‘ishki chito’, ‘the great mother’.” In the very center of
the mound, they say, ages ago, the Great Spirit created the
first Choctaws, and through a hole or cave, they crawled
forth into the light of day. Some say that only one pair
was created, but others say that many pairs were created.
Old Hopahkitubbee (Hopakitobi), who died several years
ago in Neshoba County, was wont to say that after coming
forth from the mound the freshly-made Choctaws were very
wet and moist, and the Great Spirit stacked them along on
the rampart so that the sun could dry them.”

The reader is referred to the version of the creation
legend quoted later on in this book in the chapter on post-
Columbian material.

J. F. H. Claiborne', the historian, who in 1842-3 presided
over a Board of Commissioners established by the United
States to inquire into and adjudicate the claims of the Choc-
taws, records that “all the very aged Choctaws, on being
interrogated as to where they were born, insisted that they
came out of Nana-Wyyah. Many of the Choctaws exam-
ined by the Commission regarded this mound as the mother
or birth-place of the tribe, and more than one claimant
declared that he would not quit the country as long as the
Nana-Wyyah remained.”

SOME SCATTERED MOUNDS.

A handsome little mound about three-fourths of a mile
south of Coffeeville, Yalobusha County, may be seen from
the train, if the traveler looks to the east. It is about 11 feet

'Claiborne: Miss. as a Province, Territory and State, Jackson, 1880, p. 519.
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high and 200 feet in circumference at the base, and stands
upon level ground.

Near the Culley homestead about four miles east of
Madison station, Madison Co., and about twelve miles from
Jackson on the Natchez Trace, is a mound, which has been
spread and lowered much by plowing. It is only 3 or 4 feet
high. I saw a number of bones, teeth, pebbles, and flakes-of
flint, but no potsherds. Many skeletons are said to have been
plowed from the mound.

At Pocahontas, Hinds Co., there are two mounds, the
larger in plain view from the railroad. This large mound is
elliptical or oblong in shape, being 600 feet in periphery at
base. The plateau is level and measures 100 feet long by
50 feet wide, the longer axis being approximately north and
south. It is without trees and has been cultivated. The
height is apparently 26 to 30 feet. The sides have not been
cultivated; they are steep and covered with trees. No depres-
sion corresponding to the great quantity of earth in the
mound was found. Fragments of pottery are abundant;
flakes of flint are apparently few. Human bones are reported
to have been plowed up near the mound.

The other mound at Pocahontas is diametrically across
town from the one just described and stands about 400 yards
away from it, just back of the Baptist church. It is circular
in form and much smaller, being about 233 feet in circum-
ference and about 9 feet high. It has been considerably dis-
figured by digging. Large liquidambers (sweet-gums) and
a plane-tree (sycamore) stand on top of it.

The station called Indian Mound near the Alabama line
in Clarke Co. takes its name from a group of small aboriginal
mounds. I saw five in 1917, ranging from 20 to 36 inches
high; they are round and uniform in character. The little
boy who conducted me about said there was another near
their house. He reported that he and his cousin had dug a
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skeleton from one of the mounds. I saw very few fragments
of artifacts of any kind. This group of small uniform mounds
is unique.

ON THE GULT COAST.

Shell-heaps as well as other mounds exist along the south-
ern coast of Mississippi. These shell-mounds are not so
large or so rich in artifacts as those of Florida. In 1916 I
made a hurried trip along the coast and located a few of
these ancient refuse-heaps.

On the farm of Mr. Joseph Mauffray two and a half
miles from the town of Bay St. Louis, Hancock Co., where
Jordan River runs into the bay, I saw a number of shell-
heaps, apparently from 8 to 12 inches thick, on some of
which were found fragments of pottery. These heaps are
often quite near the edge of the water. From one of these
a skeleton was said to have been recently exhumed. Other
large shell-heaps are reported in the vicinity, some much
thicker. There are still a number of mixed-blood Indians
about here and at Dillville, some of whom still speak Choctaw.

Near Delisle, Harrison Co., there is a fine example of a
large artificial shell-bank, tho much of it has been hauled
away for road material. It is a hundred yards long or more
and from 2 to 6 feet high. Human remains seem scarce.
There are two other large shell-heaps in this vicinity, one
near the mouth of Wolf River, the other two miles west of
Delisle on the bay at what is known as Shell Beach. A mile
or two east of Delisle there is an earth mound perhaps 14 or
16 feet high.

At Biloxi, Harrison Co., and in that vicinity there
formerly existed a number of shell-heaps, some of which
have since been completely or partially obliterated. Dr.
William G. Hinsdale made some investigations among these
about the year 1886. There were found many fragments of
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pottery; many disks of clay, some of which were perforated;
relatively few artifacts of shell; no celts. The following
account of the remains about Biloxi is taken from personal
letters to the author:

On the channel side of Point Cadet near the Biloxi can-
ning factory are scattered hearths and their accompanying
shell-mounds. Excavation brought to light many fine frag-
ments of pottery, one hone awl, and a few other artifacts.

At the extreme tip of Point Cadet are the remains of a
large shell-heap now mostly washed away. The beach is
paved with shells and pottery, and after a storm many fine
pieces are cast up by the sea. In front of the place at low
tide may be seen many stumps of trees.

Just back of the Biloxi light-house is a small rivulet upon
the farther bank of which is an acre or more covered by a
thin deposit of oyster and gnathodon shells; in some places
it is between three and four feet thick. There are also a few
low refuse-heaps overgrown with cedar trees. In places the
ashes are deep, especially adjoining the hearths. An hour
or more spent in excavating resulted in the discovery of
quantities of broken clay vessels, turtle and alligator bones,
scales and bones of fishes, a shell bead and one other worked

shell object.
A sand mound near this shell-heap was excavated some

years ago by some one who is said to have obtained entire
clay vessels which were buried with the skeletons.

On the Back Bay is a shell-heap, which owing to the
encroachment of the tides has been partly washed away,
leaving a vertical exposure. There are many hearths of
calcined shell about three feet in diameter. There were
found fragments of clay vessels, pottery disks about the size
of a silver dollar, and in the water in front of the deposit
stemmed arrow-points of jasper.

Near the western extremity on the north side of Deer
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Island, off the coast of Biloxi, is a long irregular shell-heap
varying in thickness from a few inches to 15 feet. The
thickest portion is at the east end, where it is also widest
(about 150 feet). About 300 feet west of the ship-way is a
circular hut-ring about 20 feet in diameter. Excavations at
the summit of the deposit near the ship-way brought to light
great quantities of human bones. Relics were not abundant
and for each object found a ton of shells had to be turned
over. Among the finds were clay disks and bird-heads, and
perforated oyster shells.

Mr. James Brodie who lives north of Biloxi across the
bay has done collecting in this vicinity; he tells me that he
has sent much material to Edinburgh, Scotland.

Mr. Scuyler Poitevent conducted me to an Indian shell-
bank not far from his house on the bay near Ocean Springs,
Jackson Co. This heap is 18 inches deep, and is situated
directly on the edge of an inlet, which has washed away much
of the heap. Fragments of pottery were in evidence.

Mr. Clarence B. Moore' undertook in 1905 the investiga-
tion of mounds from the south-eastern corner of the state
- along Mississippi sound, but abandoned the work at Biloxi
because of poor success in finding artifacts and because his -
advance agent reported no mounds of importance west of
that place. The mounds investigated were:

Mound near Mary Walker Bayou, Jackson Co.

‘Seven mounds near Graveline Bayou, Jackson Co.

Three mounds near Belle Fontaine Point, Jackson Co.

Mound on Tchula Cabawfa River, Harrison Co.

A summary of Moore’s work on these mounds follows:

On the south side of Mary Walker Bay near its mouth,
in Jackson Co., is the residence of Mr. David Saucier. About
100 yards in a north-westerly direction from the house is a

'Moore: Certain Aborig. Remains on Mobile Bay and Miss. Sound, Phila., 1905.
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mound of sand of circular outline, 3.5 feet in height and 56
feet in diameter. A thoro investigation showed this mound
to have been domiciliary in character.

Back from the bluff that overlooks the sound at this place,
not far from the eastern side of Graveline Bayou, are seven
mounds of sand, on property of Mr. J. I. Ford. All these
mounds are circular in outline with the exception of the
largest, which is oblong, with basal dimensions of 93 feet
east and west and 81 feet north and south, and height of
about 6 feet. The summit-plateau measures 50 feet east
and west and 38 feet north and south. Each of the seven
mounds was carefully examined without discovery of human
remains. A few bits of earthen-ware were found, only one
bearing decoration.

About two miles in a north-westerly direction from Belle
Fontaine Point, Jackson Co., are three mounds on property
of Mr. S. G. Ramsey. One of these mounds, used as a mod-
ern place of burial, was not investigated, but as it resembles
the other two, which investigation showed to be domiciliary,
it is doubtless of the same kind.

A mound in Harrison Co. said to be on state land, stands
in the pine woods about six miles north of Biloxi, being about
200 yards from the eastern bank of Tchula Cabawfa River
and about half a mile above Hawley’s Bluff on the opposite
side of the river. This mound is of clay and has a rounded
but irregular outline, with basal diameters of 450 feet north
and south and 290 feet east and west, and height of 11 feet.
This mound, evidently domiciliary, was dug into to a reason-
able extent without material result.

IN THE VICINITY OF NATCHEZ,

Adams County including the region about Natchez is
rich in Indian legend and history and likewise in Indian mon-
uments and remains; here lived in the days of the early col-
onists the celebrated Natchez tribe.
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Mounds are abundant. At Foster, the first railroad sta-
tion north-east of Natchez, there is a considerable mound
with a residence upon it. In the northern part of the county
are the Anna group and the Selsertown earth-works. Twelve
miles south of Natchez stand the mounds which mark the
site of the White Apple village. Skeletons have been
unearthed on the Washaway plantation on the Homochitto
near Kingston in the southern part of the county.

Dickeson® describes from personal observation in 1842
and 1843 the Bernard mounds three miles east of Natchez,
near St. Catherine’s Creek, the Quitman mounds eight miles
north of Natchez on the low ground near the river, and the
Lewis mounds ten miles from Natchez, and mentions many
others in his list of specimens.

There are several good collections of Indian relics in
and about Natchez, and many pieces have been taken from
this vicinity to museums outside the state.

Moore investigated in 1910 a small mound near Ellis
Cliff in the southern part of Adams County, some distance
below Natchez, and gives the following account®:

“About one mile in a southerly direction from Ellis Cliff,
on rising ground forming a part of the hills that here
approach the river, was the remnant of a small mound which
has been dug into previous to our coming. Investigation of
the parts remaining yielded two burials and parts of two
others. One skeleton lay closely flexed on the back, the knees
being drawn up toward the chin. Another was closely flexed
on the right side. Two skeletons which had been interred
side by side, closely flexed on the right side, had lost heads
and shoulders by the making of another grave in aboriginal
times. No artifacts were present with these burials.”

The White Apple mounds are situated on Second Creek

'Culin: The Dickeson Col. of Am. Antiq., Phila., 1900.
*Moore: Some Aborig. Sites on Miss. River, Phila., 1911, p. 377.
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in Adams County about 12 miles south of Natchez, not far
from Laurel Hill and the Cliffs. I visited these mounds on
August 15, 1916, when the vegetation was very rank and the
conditions for observation least favorable. The two mounds
still standing are of the conical type. The first mound meas-
ured 500 feet in circumference at the base; the second meas-
ured 131 feet in longer diameter on the top. This second
mound stands directly on the bank of the creek and much
of it has been cut away by the water. The heights of these
two mounds were not measured, but were estimated at 12 to
18 feet. About the mounds are still to be seen numerous
fragments of flint and pottery.

Dr. M. W. Dickeson, who visited the White Apple vil-
lage site in 1844, left a somewhat fanciful drawing of three
mounds, since published by the University of Pennsylvania'.
He states that the largest was about 25 feet high and that
near it were indications of other small structures.

White Apple village was one of the chief villages of the
Natchez Indians and figures prominently in the early history
of the settlements about the city of Natchez. The Natchez
Indians were first visited by the French in 1682, at which
time the tribe probably numbered about 6000 people. They
were an agricultural people and had developed considerable
skill in the arts. They wove cloth, made excellent pottery
and stone implements, and erected mounds of earth. They
were sun-worshipers and practiced head-flattening. Their
chief was called the great Sun. The Natchez engaged in
three wars with the French, the last one in 1729 proving
fatal to their nationality; in 1730 they abandoned their vil-
lages and were dispersed; a few remained in the vicinity;
some were sold into slavery in Santo Domingo; many were
received by the Chickasaw tribe and later were further
dispersed®.

'Culin: The Dickeson Col. of Am. Antiquities, Philadelphia, 1900.
*Handbook of American Indians, Bull. 30, Washington, 1907, 1910.
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In 1907, Swanton found five Indians who could still
speak the Natchez language, living near Braggs, Oklahoma,
then in the Cherokee nation not far from the Creek nation.
Most of them could speak also Creek and Cherokee. The
oldest of the five, said to have been over 80 years old, died
in the spring of 1908'.

Persons interested in the history of the Natchez Indians
should consult such books as Du Pratz’s Histoire de la
Louisiane (1758) and Swanton’s Indian Tribes of the Lower
Mississippt Valley (1911).

The Selsertown earth-work (fig. 7) is located on the
Emerald Mound plantation in Adams County near the Jeffer-
son County line, about twelve miles north-east of Natchez.
It is about three-quarters of a mile or a mile from the site
of the extinct village of Selsertown, and twice that distance
from the present railroad station of Stanton. This cele-
brated prehistoric earth-work is unique in that it consists of a
vast elevated plateau on which stand the different mounds.
My survey of this ancient site was made in March, 1917, and
is as follows:

At base of plateau On top of plateau
Length on south side, ............ 670 feet.. . oovvvvinienr veniinnn
Length on north side, ............ 650 feet.........oov o,
Length thru middle, .............. 700 feet............... 596 feet

Width on east end, ...
Width on west end,
Area of earth-work.............. 7 acres

The length thru the middle both at base and on top is greater
than on either side. The axis is almost east and west. The
elevation of the main plateau varies from 21 to 44 feet, being
least on the south side, which ranges from 21 to 23 feet; and
greatest on the west end, which reaches 44 feet, not includ-
ing the tall mound which stands upon the platform at that
end. The elevation at the east end is from 24 to 37 feet, not

'Swanton : Indian Tribes of the Lower Miss. Valley, Bull. 43, Washington, 1911.
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including the low mound at that end; at the north side from
26 to 42 feet. These variations are not surprising when it
is remembered that the level of the base upon which the
plateau stands is quite irregular and that the top is by no
means level. '

The outline of the plateau was no doubt originally more
regular than it is at present, for it has long been in cultiva-
tion and erosion has been at work. A deep and wide ravine
has eaten far into the northern side of the platform and
there are smaller ones on the south and east edges. The

KD

I16. 7. Selsertown plateau, Adams Co., scale 1 inch
to 300 feet.

southern slope and the top of the plateau are now in cultiva-
tion; the other three slopes are largely in wood and thickets.
On the southern slope near the ravine quantities of burnt
earth with cane impressions are to be seen. As already
remarked the surface of the plateau is quite uneven.

At present two mounds stand upon the plateau, one at
the west end and one at the east end. The one at the west
is of the truncated conical type, measuring 475 feet in cir-
cumference at base and 28 feet in altitude (fig. 8). The flat
top is somewhat elliptical, with the longer axis north and
south. It has been cultivated, but is now grown up in small
trees. The top has had a deep hole sunk into it. Accord-
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ing to Mr. James D. Middleton’, the last digging was made
in behalf of Dr. Joseph Jones of New Orleans, who was not
however present in person. The depth reached was not more
than 15 or 16 feet, about half the distance to the base of the
mound. The result is not known with certainty. Adding the
height of the circular mound, 28 feet, to that of the plateau

1. 8. Selsertown plateau and mound on the west end of it, looking
from the mound on the east end, March, 1917. C. S. B.

at the west, 44 feet, it will be seen that the total height of the
carth-work is here 72 feet. The eastern mound is very much
smaller than the western and is quite irregular in outline.
The main part of it is a rather flat conical mound not more
than six or seven feet high; along the eastern edge it takes
the form of an embankment and extends at a reduced height
some distance toward the south. Here were found the five
fine stone pipes pictured in figures 218-226 and other arti-

"Pwelith Ann. Rept. of Bu. of Ethn, Washington, 1894, p. 266.
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facts. Many fragments of pottery and flint and some small
concretions may be seen here.

In the opinion of the present writer, the Selsertown
plateau is not to be regarded as entirely artificial. The
Amerinds took advantage of a natural elevation and merely
shaped it to suit their purposes, the faces being built up and
filled in at places and the spurs of the hills being cut away
at other places, thereby making the shape of the platform
more regular and the slope of the sides steeper. The largest
cut is found at the south-east corner, where a depression 60
feet wide runs between the plateau and the unremoved lower
part of the spur, making a square turn toward the north at
the corner of the platform. Other cuts may be seen at the
east end and at the north-west corner. The writer sank
many trial-holes on the slopes and on the surface of the
plateau to test the character of the soil; in many places made
earth was found, but the core of the plateau seems to be
original undisturbed loess. An examination would probably
show that the great wash on the north side is largely due to
a fill at that place.

It is difficult to say now where the original approach or
approaches were. The narrow sunken way leading up on
the east end near the north-east corner may have been one.
A rather gentle inclination at the south-west corner has long
been used by the farmers as an approach to the top of the
plateau.

Mr. James D. Middleton’, who made a careful survey of
the Selsertown group in 1887 and submitted his findings and
drawings to the Bureau of Ethnology, reports two other
mounds on the platform, situated near the middle of the
north and south margins. They were circular and quite
small, the nerthern one being two feet high, the southern
one only a foot and a half high. Squier and Davis® forty

'Twelfth Ann. Rept. of Bu. of Ethn., Washington, 1894, pages 263-7.
?Anc. Monuments of the Miss. Valley, Washington, 1848, p. 118,
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years earlier, in 1847, reported eight mounds besides the two
end mounds; they were regularly placed at various points
and measured from 8 to 10 feet in height. They also state
that the group was surrounded by a ditch at its base, averag-
ing perhaps 10 feet in depth. This is hardly probable, in the
pinion of the present writer, tho there may have been ponds

of water at the base.
The Anna or Robson group of mounds is located in
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Fi6. 9. The Anna or Robson mounds, north of Natchez. Scale 1 inch to 300 ft.

Adams County 10 or 12 miles north of Natchez. There are
four of these mounds standing in the loess foothills, just
igh. The arrange-

above Anna, the tallest being 50 feet high
ment of the mounds is shown in figure 9. The public road

passes between mound A and the other three, cutting away
ven. Mounds C

part of mound D. The ground here is uneven
and D stand on the edge of the bluff and there are deep

ravines behind A and B. Thus the bluffs and ravines prac-
tically make an enclosure for this group of mounds.



MOUNDS AND EARTIH-WORKS. 41

These four mounds are all of the truncated pyramid type;
all are quadrilateral, tho none is exactly square.

Mound A 1s deeply covered with canes, bushes and briers,
so that exact measurements are diflicult: the top is about
28 feet above the level, about 114 feet long, 60 feet wide on
the south-west and 80 feet on the north-east.

Fic. 10. Tallest Anna mound, C, height 50 ft. Taken March 16, 1917, from
mound B. C. S. B.

Mound B is 13 feet high and 100 feet north and south
by 90 feet east and west. It has suffered considerably from
erosion.

The great mound C (fig. 10) is 50 feet high on the side
away from the bluff, that is, at its lowest. The top is flat
and covered with canes and other vegetation; the east edge
measures 135 feet, the west 127, the north end 72 feet, the
south 64. The surface is thus about one-fifth of an acre,
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which is about the same as the surface of A and likewise of
B. The slope of the sides is very steep. There may still
be seen the remains of an approach up the eastern side, 75
feet from the south-east corner. The approach is about 10
feet wide and the inclination is somewhat gentler than that
of the rest of the mound. This tall mound stands right on
the edge of the bluff and would have made an excellent obser-
vation tower. The Mississippi River is about two miles dis-
tant and is visible from the mound at high water. Several
trial-holes were made in the sides of the mound and showed
fragments of pottery and bones.

D is the smallest of the four mounds, being only 6 feet
high, and measuring about 60 by 75 or 80 feet before being
partly cut away by the road. Several trial-holes in this
mound as well as the wall exposed by the road revealed
numerous fragments of pottery, flakes of flint, and bones.
The earth is largely black, and often banded.

From the margin of A to the margin of B is 275 feet;
from the margin of B to the margin of Cis 530 feet. No one
of these mounds has its basal lines oriented exactly with the
cardinal points or running parallel with those of any of the
other three mounds. The surface of the intervening fields
and lots is strewn with many evidences of prehistoric occu-
pation.

In addition to the four large mounds shown in the dia-
gram (fig. 9) there are two other small mounds covered with
canes, bushes, and vines beyond the ravine from mound A.

This is a magnificent group of mounds, and should be
preserved.

A group of earth-works located a short distance east of
Natchez was investigated in 1842 by Dr. M. W. Dickeson’,
a ‘Philadelphia showman and archeologist, whose methods

'Culin: The Dickeson Col. of Am. Antiq., Philadelphia, 1900, p. 116.
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and conclusions were perhaps not always strictly scientific.
His description of the earth-works is condensed as follows,
the original drawing being omitted:

On the plantation of Thomas Bernard, three miles east of
Natchez and near the margin of the St. Catharine, are several
mounds. They are now, after some fifty years cultivation,
almost razed to the surface of the ground, with the exception
of a few small ones which have been protected by a meagre
growth of oak and persimmon. Our attention was first
called to three basin-shaped depressions, seventeen feet in
diameter and five feet deep, arranged to form a triangle.
" Cleansing these of their rubbish, we found a large, square,
coarse-grained sandstone mortar, hollow on both sides, and
later, in each of the other basins, a smaller and less perfect
mortar. Several small stone ornaments, four stone beads and .
eleven arrow-heads were all we discovered in removing the
detritus. Similar depressions were discovered, a few months
after, at Ellis Cliffs some fifteen miles distant. They also
lay close to the side of the St. Catharine and were similarly
lined with clay and inlaid with pebbles. In one of them we
found several curiously formed stones and a few arrow-
points.

Five years prior to our visit Mr. Bernard’s’ gardener dug
up a small mound completely filled with bones in the rear of
his garden and about 400 feet from the system of structures.

We next examined the vestiges of two walls (banks) of
earth, some thirty-eight yards long, lying parallel to each
other, fifteen yards apart. There are two small oval mounds
at either end equidistant between. Immense quantities of
broken pottery, arrow and javelin points and an occasional
ornament of jasper are picked up from the surface. At the
eastern end of the banks we dug up two small jars filled with
fine large pearls which fell into powder as soon as they
became dry. There are two more banks of a crescent shape
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and eight feet wide and on one side are traces of a ditch
six feet wide from which a portion of the material has
been taken to construct the segments. West of the basin-
shaped depression there seems to have been a large swale
or basin, no doubt artificially constructed for a reservoir. A
small ravine now cuts through it into the St. Catharine and
has to a great extent destroyed its original form. A great
many pipes have been found in the vicinity of these
structures. :

The Quitman mounds, located 8 miles north of Natchez
between the Misissippi River and the bluffs, just opposite the
lower end of Fairchild’s Island, were investigated by Dr.
Dickeson in 1843, and his description and drawings were
published by the University of Pennsylvania in 1900.
According to his map, there are eight mounds in all, one rec-
tangular, the rest circular or oblong; one stands upon the
bluff, the others are in the valley. The mounds, or some of
them, seem to have been entirely obliterated by immense
quantities of soil carried down from the hillsides; they were
located by the dark rich loam filled with fragments of human
bones, teeth, and pottery.

Thru one of these mounds a trench two feet wide was
dug. It contained 24 skeletons, lying on their backs with
heads to the east and hands extended along the chests. Their
heads were flattened lengthwise. All the mounds in the
immediate neighborhood and in the adjoining burial-places
in the same bottom contained crania flattened in conical form.

The Lewis mounds, ten miles from Natchez on the planta-
tion of Mr. F. Lewis, were investigated by Dr. Dickeson in
“July, 1843. Many skeletons and many specimens of pottery
were found, as were also shell ornaments and flint projectiles.
Good terra-cotta vessels with incised scroll designs are pic-
tured in Culin’s plates 14 and 16 (figs. 344 and 345 in this
book). Some of the human bones showed burning. The
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number and size of the mounds comprising this group are
not stated.

Other mounds from which Dr. Dickeson enumerated
archeological material (now in the museum of the Univer-
sity of Pennsylvania) were: the Chamberlain group above
Natchez, mounds on the plantation of Col. Adam Bingamon
near Natchez, Kibby’s mounds, Ellis Cliff mounds, Stower’s
mounds, Elliott’s mounds, Race Course Mounds, Dr. Dun-
bar’s, William Conner’s, Gillespie’s, Allen Grafton’s, Railey’s,
Minor’s, Mrs. Postlewait’s, and a mound at Washington
belonging to Col. Wales [ Wailes?].

The Ferguson mounds in Jefferson County furnished a
number of the artifacts collected by Dr. Dickeson in the early
days and now deposited in the museum of the University of
Pennsylvania. Dr. Dickeson examined this group in 1846;
the following description is condensed from his account of
the investigation'.

The Ferguson mounds are situated on the summit of the
range of bluffs bordering on the Mississippi, some eighteen
miles above the town of Natchez. The system is composed
of seven conical mounds, five of them arranged to form a
flattened circle, and the others a short distance above. Imme-
diately in front of them are two large basins, the sides of
which are regularly finished. In the centre of these depres-
sions, quantities of skeletons surrounded by curious objects
are dug up. Extensive roads diverge from this system of
mounds, one touching the great Seltsertown mound.

The four largest mounds stand equidistant from each
other, on the summit of the bluff. The largest, fifty-six
feet in height, overlooks a series of small lakes between the
Mississippi and the bluffs, and commands a view of the river
in both directions for many miles, as well as some eight or
ten miles across into Louisiana.

'Culin: The Dickeson Col. of Am. Antiq., Philadelphia, 1900, p. 122,

———
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We divided our force of laborers and set them at work
digging into the mound from the top and sides. A short
distance brought them to the skeletons, all flatheads. Our
time being limited, we paid but little attention to the stratifi-
cation, and simply endeavored to get as many relics as pos-
sible. In the large mound we sunk a shaft eight feet wide
and fifteen feet deep. From this mound was excavated a
stone pipe (plate 12 of Culin, figure 227 in this book) carved
to represent a flathead Indian in a sitting posture holding a
pipe in his hands.

In the side of one of the small mounds we found at the
head of a skeleton three finely finished vases filled with ashes
and curiously wrought ornaments.

I made drawings of several finely carved pipes which
were found in the mounds. Their possessors would not part
with them. In former times a great number of green stone
and syenite axes have been picked up in the adjacent fields,
but very few have been found in the mounds themselves.

Moore' mentions a mound about 12 feet high near Rod-
ney, Jefferson Co., and another about the same height near
Grand Gulf, Claiborne Co. The first had been partly washed
away, the second was dug into without results.

The preceding account of the archeological remains in the
Natchez territory was written some years before Mr. Warren
K. Moorehead conducted extensive investigation in that field
in January and February of 1924. Tho the present writer
took some small part in those operations, being present three
days in the field at Selsertown and Anna, no attempt is made
to incorporate the results of those investigations in this book;
it is reserved for Mr. Moorehead to publish a detailed account
of his studies in the Natchez territory.

*Moore: Some Aborig. Sites on Miss. River, Philadelphia, 1911, page 368, note 1.
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IN COPIAH COUNTY AND VICINITY.

Dr. Thomas B. Birdsong, formerly of Hazelhurst, did
considerable collecting in Copiah Co. and adjacent territory.
His material was sold to Mr. Victor C. Barringer of Monroe,
La. Dr. Birdsong wrote me as follows in 1917:

“Col. Louis J. Dupree and I about the year 1904 spent
many days investigating the mounds of Bayou Pierre in
Copiah Co. and the western borders of the county into Clai-
borne Co., as well as the eastern portion of Copiah in the
valley of Pearl River, and across it into Simpson Co. Most
of the things were actually exhumed from the mounds, tho
some pieces were given to me by people who had plowed
them up in the fields upon or near the mounds.

“Near Rockport, close to Pearl River, we went into a
group of five mounds in a cluster, the central one yielding
several fine pieces of pottery and many skeletons. One of
this group was almost flat with the surface, and upon digging
a little in its center we found the remains of a fire; we
brought out the sharpened point of a stake from below where
it had been burnt to the ground. Two mounds only I found
on the side of hills; all the rest were in low places, valley and
creek bottoms. In two we came upon copper findings: cop-
per beads and two spool-shaped things which might have been
used as ear-pendants.

“My pieces were all from Mississippi; I had specimens
from the counties of Copiah, Simpson, Lawrence, Claiborne,
Adams, and Hinds; tho I did no digging in Adams or Hinds.”

The author of this book has not seen the “Copiah Wall,”
near Brandywine, which gets into print from time to time
as an archeological wonder, but the opinion of Dr. Charles
Peabody', Dr. E. N. Lowe, and other competent observers, is
that it is a purely natural geological formation.

'Peabody: Expl. of Mounds, Coahoma Co., Miss., Cambridge, Mass., 1904, p. 56.

u—m—
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IN WARREN COUNTY.

Locust Mound, on Horseshoe Lake, Warren Co., less than
4 feet high, was dug into by Mr. Clarence B. Moore' with
negative results.

A mound near Oak Bend Landing, Warren Co., was
opened in 1910 or 1911 by Moore, who gives a full account
of his investigations, here condensed as follows:

A few feet from the water’s edge at Oak Bend Landing
is a mound of irregular outline, about 50 feet and 60 feet in
basal diameters, and about 3 feet high. Persons long resident
in the neighborhood report the mound, which they say once
was considerably higher, to have been graded to serve as a
foundation for a house, and subsequently to have suffered
additional loss in height through wash of water. The house
had disappeared at the time of our visit, but a cistern was
present in the mound. Trial-holes in this mound came at
once upon human remains, and two days were devoted by
us to the investigation of what probably had been a small
burial mound.

Unfortunately much digging into this mound had been
done by others, as there was great disturbance of bones and
of artifacts, in places, and numerous corroded nails of iron
were found, which presumably had been left on the surface
of the mound at the time of the demolition of the house.
Twenty-eight burials were noted by us, mostly belonging to
the bunched variety, but a few burials of adults extended on
the back, and the skeletons of several children also were
present in the mound. Three individual burials had the skulls
covered by inverted bowls which fitted the skulls like caps.

Some of the bunched burials were extensive, one having
no fewer than thirty skulls (many in fragments) and a great
quantity of other bones. The skulls of the bunched burials,
as a rule, were heaped together at one side of the burial.

‘Moore; Some Aborig. Sites on Miss. River, Philadelphia, 1911, p. 368, p. 378.
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In most instances singularly few artifacts lay with the
bunched burials considering the number of individuals these
burials represented. Burial no. 7, a large bunched burial
with many skulls, had associated with various parts of it:
twelve earthenware vessels; fragments of corroded sheet-
brass or copper; glass beads; a rude disk of bituminous coal
about 2.5 inches in diameter; powdered hematite in two
places. A feature of this burial was the presence of several
toy vessels of earthen-ware, put in near bones of children.
The mound is post-Columbian.

Burial no. 13 was the skeleton of an adult, extended on
the back. At the head was an earthen-ware vessel in frag-
ments; at the feet a bottle. On the chest of the skeleton and
extending to one side of it lay a small bunch of human bones
with which no skull was found. Lying above this bunch, but
possibly deposited for the lower burial also, were a number of
objects in line, overlapping each other to some extent, as fol-
lows: an imperfect flint arrow-head; a chisel wrought from
a flint pebble; a polished celt of flint, 4 inches in length; two
celts of sedimentary rock, 5.25 inches, and 6.75 inches in
length, respectively; a tool or weapon of iron or of steel,
about 5 inches in length, badly corroded; and, together, five
lance-points and knives of flint, two broken; one leaf-shaped
implement of flint, 3.5 inches long; and a bit of rock-crystal.

Burial no. 20, a bunch having eleven skulls, including two
of adolescents, was accompanied with two earthen-ware ves-
sels. Near a skull, not on each side of it, but placed together,
were two disks of indurated clay, each about 1.24 inch in
diameter and three-quarters of an inch in thickness (fig. 4,
Moore; fig. 338, Brown). Presumably these objects were ear-
plugs.

Burial no. 26, of the bunched variety, having twenty-five
skulls, had in association four vessels of earthen-ware, one
arrow-head of flint and three pebbles. With this burial also
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was a circular object of indurated clay, 1.3 inches in diameter,
centrally perforated, concave on both sides. The two faces
of this object which perhaps was an ear-plug are polished.

Burial no. 28 consisted of a single skull over which was
an inverted bowl. Besides the covering bowl stood another
vessel, and near the skull and just below the rim of the bowl
over it were two chisels wrought from pebbles of flint.

A few objects lay in the mound apart from burials: a
small celt of diabase; a chisel made from a flint pebble; an
ornament 1.25 inch in length, fashioned from the axis of a
marine univalve (Fulgur), including a small part of the
whorl, perforated longitudinally; a flat pebble about 3 inches
in length, chipped on opposite sides near the smaller end.

Forty-six vessels of earthen-ware, mostly in small frag-
ments, were recovered from this mound. The ware, as a
rule, is inferior to that found in the mound near Glass, only
two miles distant. Ten of the vessels are without decoration;
most of the others bear incised or trailed designs, some how-
ever crude and scanty. One fragment of a vessel which
apparently had been coated with red pigment was the only
evidence encountered of the use of paint in the decoration of
earthen-ware in this mound. A specimen of this pottery is
given in figure 5 [fig. 337 of this book].

The group of mounds near Glass, Warren County, a
short distance below Vicksburg, was investigated by Moore
in 1911, The published account of his work’ is condensed
in the following description:

About one mile north by north-east from Glass, a station
on the Yazoo and Mississippi Valley Railroad, on the planta-
tion of Mrs. J. P. Cline, are four mounds forming a very
irregular circle with a diameter of about 420 feet. Some
distance north of these mounds is another, much spread and

Moore: Some Aborig. Sites on the Miss. River, Phila., 1911, pp. 381-388.
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worn, on which is a house. None of these mounds was
erected as a place of refuge in time of flood, for altho they
are on ground subject to occasional overflow, they are not
ten minutes’ journey from the hills which approach the river
at this place.

The largest mound of the group composing the so-called
circle is 30 feet in height and is still rather symmetrical, tho
wash of rain has already scarred the upper part. The basal
diameter north-east and south-west is 180 feet; south-east
and north-west it is 167 feet. The diameters of the summit-
plateau in the same directions respectively are 60 and 64
feet. Fourteen trial-holes in this plateau failed to come
upon artifact or bone.

Two other mounds of the four composing the circle have
been greatly mutilated. One, about 6 feet in height orig-
inally, has been partly cut away in making a road, while the
other, curtailed on one side by the same road, has been in
part washed away on the opposite side by a small bayou, and
has been leveled to a considerable extent to serve as a founda-
tion for a building which formerly stood upon it. Both these
mounds were dug into by us without results.

The fourth mound of the circular group has a height of
15 feet; its basal diameters are 149 feet and 128 feet. This
mound, however, has been under cultivation practically over
its entire surface, and a narrow spur, protected from the
plow by a tree, projects from a corner of the summit-plateau
a distance of 13 feet, thus showing that the plateau has been
worked away through cultivation by at least that number of
feet on one side. Trial-holes in the summit-plateau of the
mound in question came upon several vessels of earthen-ware,
all near the surface. Consequently it was decided to dig
completely thru that part of the plateau (about three-quar-
ters of its present area) where indications of graves were
found. Human remains were encountered but twice; in
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both instances accompanied with deposits of pottery. In
other instances artifacts were present, singly and in groups,
where no burials were apparent, tho beyond question they
had been present but had disappeared thru decay.

There came from this mound, in addition to vessels of
earthen-ware: several polished pebbles, evidently smoothing-
stones for pottery; a discoidal stone roughly shaped from a
pebble; a flat pebble chipped toward one end, on two opposite
sides, probably to facilitate attachment to a handle; a small
quantity of powdered hematite used for paint.

Associated with pottery and lying side by side, were two
cylinders of yellow clay material, crumbling and in many
fragments. We were unable to determine the length of
these cylinders, which fell into many fragments on removal,
but the deposit as it lay in the ground, was 15 inches in
length. Each of these cylinders possessed one rounded end.
The character of the end opposite the rounded one we were
unable to determine, though we think it likely that the objects
had been what is known as spade-shaped implements and that
their upper parts had crumbled away.

Thirty-five vessels of earthen-ware were scored by us as
coming from this mound; tho the count was of necessity
imperfect, as only two whole vessels were encountered. The
ware from this place contains little if any shell-tempering. Tt
is fairly thin and of medium excellence. The principal fea-
ture about the pottery from this place is the great proportion
of decorated vessels; in fact but one wholly undecorated ves-
sel was found in the mound. [See figures 332 to 336.]

Various slight rises of ground in different parts of this
plantation, on which were a few scattered signs of aboriginal
occupancy, were investigated, but without success. Probably
burial places at these sites had been destroyed in the course
of long cultivation.
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ON THE YAZOO RIVER,

Mr. Clarence B. Moore in 1908 did considerable explora-
tion among the mounds of the lower Yazoo River and of the
Sunflower River'. His work up the Yazoo River extended
from Vicksburg to Racetrack Landing above Greenwood and
up the Sunflower to Lake George. On the lower courses of
those rivers dwelt in early historic times the Yazoos, Ofos,
and other smaller tribes. Moore’s poor success in finding
aboriginal objects in that region led him to the conclusion
that the placing of artifacts with the dead was not widely
practiced there. He enumerates the following mounds and
sites investigated on the Yazoo River:

Three mounds at King’s Crossing, Warren Co.
Dwelling-site below Haynes Bluff, Warren Co.

Three mounds near Haynes Bluff Landing, Warren Co.
Two mounds near Leist Landing, Issaquena Co.
Two mounds near O’Neill’s Landing, Yazoo Co.
Mound near Stella Landing, Yazoo Co.

Mound near Clark’s Ferry, Yazoo Co.

Dwelling-site near Monterey’s Landing, Yazoo Co.
Mound at Caruthers’ Landing, Yazoo Co.

Dwelling-site at Koalunsa Landing, Yazoo Co.

Mound near Parker’s Bayou, Holmes Co.

Five mounds at the Fort Place, Yazoo Co.

Mound near entrance of Tchula Lake, Holmes Co.
Mound on Tchula Lake, Holmes Co.

Four mounds at the Peaster Place, Holmes Co.

Mound at Belzoni, Washington Co.

Mound above Belzoni, Holmes Co.

Mound near Welsh Camp Landing, Holmes Co.
Mound near entrance of Wasp Lake, Washington Co.
Six mounds near Wasp Lake, Washington Co.

"Moore: Certain Mounds of Arkansas and Mississippi, Philadelphia, 1908.
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Two mounds near Silent Shade Landing, Holmes Co.
Two mounds near Carey Middleton Gin, Holmes Co.
Two mounds near head of Honey Island, Holmes Co.
Mound near mouth of Yalobusha River, Leflore Co.
Three mounds on the Lucas Plantation, Leflore Co.
Mound at Racetrack Landing, Leflore Co.

I follow the course of Moore’s journey up the river, add-
ing at times the results of observations by myself and others.
Moore gives the following description of the first group of
mounds:

At King’s Crossing, about four miles north of Vicksburg,
in full view from the Yazoo and Mississippi Valley Rail-
road, are three mounds, and what may be parts of other
mounds.

Mound A, on property belonging to Miss M. C. Collier,
resident on the place, was used as a fortification by the Con-
federates during the siege of Vicksburg, and cannon-balls
may still be seen partly imbedded in its clay. The mound
evidently belongs to the domiciliary class so abundant thru-
out southern United States. At the time of our visit the -
mound was about 25 feet in height and showed much irregu-
larity in shape, though doubtless formerly it had been a sym-
metrical oblong. Its basal measurements north and south
and east and west were respectively 157 feet and 173 feet.
The diameters of the summit-plateau in the same directions
were 74 feet and 92 feet.

Mound B, about 100 feet east of mound A, on property
of Mr. T. D. Major, residing nearby, was much spread by
long cultivation. Its height was 5 feet 5 inches; its base, of
irregular outline, was 96 feet north and south and 84 feet
east and west. Fourteen trial-holes were put into this
mound (which probably was domiciliary), without result.

Nine trial-holes were dug without success into soil black-
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ened with organic matter, somewhat to the north of the
mound, evidently a former dwelling-site.

Mound C, about 250 feet east by north from mound A,
on property belonging to Miss Collier, has been almost cut
to pieces—in the first place for use as a fortification, and
later, it is said, by treasure seekers.

The present author visited these mounds in 1916. Many
fragments of pottery, stone, shell, and bone are to be seen
upon them. A number of artifacts are said to have been
taken from mound C at the time the railroad was built, and
sent to the North.

On the dwelling-site half a mile south of Haynes Bluff,
Warren Co., Moore found a limestone pendant about the
size and shape of a hen’s egg (fig. 1, Moore; fig. 115, Brown).

On the plantation of Mr. H. K. Williams, resident on the
place, about one-half mile in a north-east direction from
Haynes Bluff Landing, on ground sloping toward the river,
he investigated a symmetrical mound, evidently domiciliary.
This mound, to some extent impaired by wash of water at
its north-east angle, has a roadway leading out from its
southern side. Its height from the western side is 30 feet
2 inches; from the eastern side, 28 feet 5 inches. The mound
is practically square, the base being about 185 feet in each
direction. The summit-plateau is 75 feet square.

Fourteen trial-holes were put down, resulting in the dis-
covery of a few fragments of bones of lower animals, mostly
of deer, and a bone identified as being part of a tibia of a
wild turkey. There were also some bits of earthen-ware,
shell-tempered as a rule, a few having a fine black polish on
each side.

In the neighborhood of this mound are three elevations,
one of which he believed to be a knoll that has served as a
dwelling-site; the other two, remnants of mounds. In one of
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these, just below the surface, was a skeleton having small
glass beads at the neck.

Mr. H. K. Williams has kindly presented to the Missis-
sippi Geological Survey a small collection of archeological
material from the vicinity of Haynes Bluff, including celts,
circular stones, flint points, and trade beads. The Davenport
Academy of Sciences has a fine flint knife 8.25 inches long
from the large mound at Haynes Bluff (fig. 59).

I continue to follow Moore’s trip up the Yazoo River, and
condense from his published report:

On the property of Mr. Samuel Leist, near Leist Land-
ing, Issaquena County, are two mounds; an elevation in a
field, probably a dwelling-site; and the remnant of a low
mound, on which stands a house. One of the mounds, which
serves as a refuge for cattle in flood-time, is about 400 yards
in a westerly direction from Leist Landing. Its height, taken
from the eastern side, is 29 feet 4 inches. Its basal outline is
circular in a general way, but somewhat irregular owing to
cultivation of the field and to wash of water in times of over-
flow. The sides of the mound also have been impaired thru
wash of rain and trampling of cattle in all probability. The
diameter of the mound is about 174 feet. There is but little
summit-plateau. Eleven trial-holes were put down in the
upper part of the mound; with the exception of three recent
burials in coffins, nothing was encountered in this mound.

On the bank of the Little Sunflower River, which here
approaches the Yazoo, and about half a mile north-west
from the mound just described, is a curious platform covered
with loam filled with evidence of long occupancy, averaging
8 feet in height except at the southern end, where it is 14
feet high. Its outline is irregularly oblong, its basal diameter
north and south being about 305 feet, east and west about
245 feet. Fourteen trial-holes thru dark loam to yellow
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clay, showing that the plateau had been built and then occu-
pied, yielded no object of importance.

A mound about 12 feet high with houses upon it near
Miller’s Landing, Sharkey County; a small mound near
Sweet Home, Yazoo County; mounds near Big Mound Land-
ing and Sycamore Landing, Yazoo County; and a mound
near Friedlander Landing, Yazoo County, were listed.

A considerable collection of artifacts from Warren and
Yazoo Counties was made by Mr. C. F. Causey of Eldorado.
The fine effigy pipe shown in figures 228 and 229 and the
little stemless pipe shown in figure 197 are from this vicinity.
May the mounds about Eldorado be those referred to in the
Smithsonian Report of 1874, page 370, as being twenty miles
below Satartia? I have not examined them.

Dr. Eugene A. Smith in his manuscript notes of 1870
mentioned some remains of aboriginal works at Satartia,
Yazoo Co., just at the edge of the town towards the hills.

Four miles down the valley road from Satartia he visited
two mounds. A landslide from one of these had exposed
fragments of human hones and teeth; a skull protruding
crumbled so readily that it was impossible to remove it whole.
Arrow-heads and other implements abounded. The present
writer visited in 1906 two mounds on Mr. Smith’s place on
the valley road from Satartia to Pheenix, which are no doubt
the mounds mentioned by Dr. Smith. Both these mounds
were then much worn away by water.

Mr. L. H. Coody of Pheenix writes that there are several
small mounds and a camp-site on his farm, and that he has
plowed up two skeletons and abundance of broken pottery.

The two small mounds near O’Neill’s Landing, Yazoo
Co., were examined by Moore with negative results. The
one in the woods was completely demolished.

The conical mound 7 feet high and 49 feet in diameter
standing in a cultivated field about 100 yards south-west of

PR o
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Stella Landing, Yazoo Co., yielded a layer of shells all the
species of which are still common to the region, two adult
skeletons, and part of a child’s skeleton, about the neck of
which were a number of shell beads.
Mounds near Enola Landing, Oak Valley Landing, Rialto
Landing, and Tarsus Landing, Yazoo Co., were reported but
not excavated.

A number of mounds near Yazoo City
were not visited by Moore because he was
informed that they had already been opened.
He suggests that these are probably the
Champlin mounds, opened and described by

Fic. 11 OQtine ot the Bureau of American Ethnology.
ggom“l);rhozg:““ The Champlin mounds in Yazoo Co. were
investigated by agents of the Bureau of
American Ethnology and an account of the work was pub-
lished by Cyrus Thomas' in 1894, here condensed as follows:
The Champlin group, consisting of four mounds, is situ-
ated about the center of Yazoo County, two miles north of
Yazoo City and two miles east of Yazoo River. The mounds
stand on low swampy land, about half a mile from the hills,
and during the flood of 1882 were surrounded by water. The
large mound is of the form shown in figure 162 [figure 11 in
this book], the other three are conical and smaller. The
dimensions of the large mound were found by careful meas-

urement to be as follows:

Length at base from north to south 106 feet.
Width of northern section 50 feet, height 14 feet.
Width of middle section 36 feet, height 8 feet.
Width of southern section 38 feet, height 11 feet.

It was explored down to the original surface and found to be

*Thomas: Mound Explorations, 12th Ann. Rept. Bu. of Am. Ethn.,, Washington,
1894, pp. 260-63.
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composed thruout of dark earth similar to the surrounding
soil.

In the southern portion at the depth of three and a half
feet were three adult skeletons, all extended at full length.
One lay with the face up and head north; about the neck
and waist were a number of shell beads. Another lay also
with face up but head to the west; close by the head was a
nicely polished celt. The other lay on the left side, with the
head north; by the head was a polished celt and immediately
in front of the face a small water bottle. There were also in
the southern section about half way between the top and
the original surface the skeleton of an adult and the skeleton
of a very young child, neither accompanied by artifacts. The
adult skeleton lay extended on the left side with head south;
the earth immediately around it was burned hard, the bones
also showing signs of fire. At the bottom of the southern
section of the mound were the remains of six skeletons. These
had doubtless been buried after the flesh was removed, as
the bones of each had been taken apart and placed in a heap,
the parts of one skeleton forming one heap.

In the central and northern parts of the mound were
found numerous skeletons; also celts, beads, and pots. An
image vessel is shown in figure 164 [not reproduced in this
book]. None of the burials in this mound were in inclosures
or coffins of any kind, except two instances where bark cov-
ering was used. All the skeletons having no relics buried with
them had the heads compressed showing frontal pressure and
backward elongation. The others, those with ornaments or
instruments accompanying them, had heads of the usual
type. Altho this fact seems to indicate that individuals of
two different tribes were buried here, it seems evident that

they belonged to the same era.
Mound no. 2 stands 1,300 feet east of the large one and
is a regular cone, 58 feet in diameter and 13 feet high. The

A~
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main body was composed of dark swamp soil like that of the
surrounding land, but at the bottom was a central, conical
core of yellow clay, 12 feet in diameter and 3 feet high. The
nearest point where the clay could have been obtained is
half a mile away. About 3 feet beneath the apex were a few
human teeth and slight traces of other bones, with which
were associated a few beads made of deer horn. Immedi-
ately below the surface, on one side, an ornamented water
bottle was discovered.

Mound no. 3, about 700 feet from no. 2, is oval in outline,
rounded on top, 35 feet long north and south, 27 feet wide,
and 3 feet high. This was not explored.

No. 4, which is 275 feet due south of no. 3, is similar in
form and size to the latter. It was explored and found to
be composed thruout of dark swamp soil. Nothing was
discovered except a few coals.

Moore found nothing of special significance in the
mounds near Clark’s Ferry and at Caruthers’ Landing, or
in the dwelling-sites near Monterey Landing and at Koalunsa
Landing, all in Yazoo Co. At the latter landing are shell
deposits of considerable thickness yielding human bones.
Low mounds were reported at Belle Prairie Landing and at
Beech Grove Landing, Yazoo Co. The low mound near
Parker’s Bayou, Holmes Co., was said to have been erected
recently as a refuge for cattle against high water.

A group of mounds on the Fort place on the river in
Yazoo County is described by Mr. C. B. Moore as consisting
of a central mound with each of the four corners directed
toward a smaller mound, the distances being:

east-south-east, 120 feet

south-south-west, 195 feet
west-north-west, 120 feet
north-north-east, 90 feet.

The angles are so regular that Mr. Moore considers the
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circumstances as perhaps indicating attention by the abor-
igines to the cardinal directions. The large central mound
has been altered for a house-site; the four satellites have been
altered either by cultivation or by presence of a road.
Trial-holes sunk into the mound near the mouth of Tchula
Lake, about 300 yards north-west from the landing on Honey
Island in a cultivated field, and into the mound on the west
bank of Tchula Lake about 3 miles from its mouth, yielded

no special returns.
On the Peaster Place on the western side of Tchula Lake

in Holmes County, on property belonging to Mr. R. L. Peas-
ter, Moore investigated four aboriginal mounds.

Mound A, a symmetrical mound in sight of the bank of
the old river, about 150 yards in an east-south-east course
from the landing, has a height of 9 feet 4 inches, and a diam-
eter at base of 58 feet. Forty-seven burials were found from
just below the surface to a thin layer of dark material 9 feet
down, on which were three fire-places, one having fish-scales
near it. The form of twenty-six of these burials was not
determined.

Burial no. 1, 1 foot 8 inches down, was a skeleton of an
adult, lying at full length on the back, the skull south-south-
west. This skeleton, from the skull to the pelvis inclusive,
had lain on a bed of fire and the bones were badly affected by
the heat, which had burnt the adjacent clay to a red hue.

Burial no. 2, 10 inches down, was an adult skeleton
extended at length on the back, the head directed south-east.
This skeleton, from the upper part of the chest down to and
including the feet, had lain on the same fire as skeleton no. 1,
the legs of skeleton no. 2 crossing the chest of the other

skeleton.
Altho such parts of both these skeletons as had been

exposed to heat showed markedly the effects of fire, the
bones remained entire and were not reduced to small calcined
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fragments, as is the case when cremation among the abor-
igines has been successfully carried out.

Burial no. 5 consisted of the skeleton or of a large part of
the skeleton of an adult, arranged in a bunch. Immediately
above this bunch was a small layer of calcined fragments of
bone which had belonged to a somewhat smaller skeleton than
the one below it.

The foregoing burials, which were all superficial, were
the only ones bearing marks of fire that were met with by us
in this mound.

Burial no. 17 was 9 feet down, that is to say on the base
of the mound, the trunk on the back, the face turned to the
right. Nine other burials were lying on the right side,
closely flexed; two were lying on the left side, closely flexed;
one was lying face down, closely flexed. The skulls found
in the mound showed no fixed orientation.

Mainly with burials were a number of arrow-heads or
knives, and four lance-heads, all of chert. These points with
one exception were rather rudely made, many showing break-
age, thus leading to the belief that imperfect objects had been
utilized for interment with the dead. One heart-shaped lance-
head of dark gray chert would be a fine example of aborig-
inal workmanship were it not for the absence of the point.

Lying with a burial was a celt 5.4 inches long, having a
graceful flare on one side of the edge. This hatchet was
given to Mr. Peaster. The earthen-ware in this mound
showed no evidence of shell-tempering, but was poor in qual-
ity, and when found was spongy from moisture.

Mound B, in a cultivated field, about one mile from
mound A in a south-east by east direction, is 2 feet 7 inches
high and 40 feet in diameter. Eleven trial-holes were put
down, some of which came upon human remains. Two feet
from the surface was an urn-burial consisting of a skeleton
presumably, the decaying remains of a skull and some long-
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bones being noted, which, after the removal of the flesh, had
been taken apart and arranged in a heap on the ground. This
heap had been covered, or rather almost covered (for a few
ends of long-bones projected), by a large inverted bowl of
most inferior ware, which upon removal fell into many small
fragments paste-like in consistency. This bowl had no dec-
oration except a grotesque representation of a human head
extending above the rim. Near the projecting bones was a
small celt.

Mound C, about 285 feet south-east by east from mound
B, is a circular rise of the ground 2 feet 4 inches high and
40 feet in diameter. Trial-holes yielded nothing.

Mound D is in a cultivated field, about one-half mile
north-west from mound A ; its height is 3 feet, its diameter
83 feet. Trial-holes exposed two skeletons of adults, at full
length on the back, parallel one to the other. At the skull of
one was an inverted vessel of inferior ware, badly broken,
bearing an incised decoration (fig. 2; fig. 328 in this book).
On the other side of the head was part of a vessel in frag-
ments.

Moore mentions but does not describe the mounds at
Holly Landing and at Silver City. The author visited these
mounds in June, 1912, and made the following observations.

About two miles down the Yazoo River from Silver City,
Yazoo County, are the Holly mounds, on the larger of which
stands an old-time residence facing the river. A cistern in
the back yard is dug in the mound. The height and form of
the mound were no doubt changed to prepare for the building
and premises. About 300 feet east of this is a second mound,
with a circumference of 308 feet at the base, and a height of
about 11 feet. The negroes use the base of this mound for
burial purposes. Very few pottery or flint fragments were
noticed here. Near the river there is apparently part of a
third mound.
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There is a large mound at Silver City, Yazoo County,
whose present form is entirely different from its original
form. It is situated on the Yazoo River just below the source
of Silver Creek. In 1897 in order to make a refuge against
anticipated high water the top was cut from this mound and
an apron or platform built entirely around the mound. As the
mound now stands it is 475 feet in circumference above the
apron, 140 feet on top north-west by south-east, and 92 feet
north-east by south-west. The present height of this mound
is 15 feet; the amount cut down from the top according to
local information was about 12 feet; hence the original height
of the mound was about 27 feet. Two fine oaks three and a
third and five feet in diameter respectively were left undis-
turbed. No skeletons, bones, or flints were found, tho some
shells were encountered. Shells may still be seen on the west
side. Scattered about the mound are many potsherds.

There are two smaller mounds nearby in cultivation; one
located south 10° east about 225 feet distance from the cen-
ter of the large mound is about 4 feet high; another located
south 20° west about 300 feet away is approximately 5 feet
high. There are other elevations in the vicinity that may be
small mounds.

Three-eighths of a mile up the Yazoo River are shell
heaps two to five feet thick, containing many fragments of
pottery and some charcoal. -

At Midnight, seven miles down Silver Creek from Silver
City, is a large mound with one small satellite. The large
mound is 12 feet high on the west side and 16 feet high on the
east side, the difference being due to the slope of the ground.
The smaller mound stands about 360 feet distant slightly to
the north of west and has its surface covered with great
quantities of pottery fragments.

A mound near Springwood Landing was reported by
Moore’s agent, but not visited by that archeologist.
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Moore describes the mound at Belzoni, Washington Co.,
as 11 feet high and 165 feet long at bottom and 96 feet long at
top east and west by 125 feet wide at bottom and 56 feet wide
at top; it is visible from the river and about a quarter of a
mile north-east of the landing. Part of the eastern end has
been hauled away to utilize the shells. Twelve trial-holes
were put down; one exposed six post-holes in line, about 30
inches below the surface; these were about 2 feet deep and
3.5 to 4 inches in diameter. No doubt an aboriginal building
had once stood on the mound before its final increase in
height.

About one mile above Belzoni on the opposite side of the
river in Holmes Co. stands a mound at the water’s edge 5.5
feet high and 14 feet in diameter. Eleven trial-holes were
sunk without result.

On the Montgomery property about three-quarters of a
mile south-south-east from Welsh Camp Landing, Holmes
Co., a circular mound 7.7 to 9 feet high and 47 feet in diam-
eter was dug down and subsequently rebuilt. In all seven-
teen burials were found, at depths varying from 1 foot to 8
feet 8 inches—those at the greatest depth being four skele-
tons in a circular grave at the center of the mound. Of these
four skeletons, with skulls in three directions, three lay on
their left sides and one on the right side. Three were closely
flexed, the knees being drawn up well toward the chin. One
had the legs at right angles to the body. The predominating
form of burial in this mound, where determination was pos-
sible, was that of close flexion. Arrow-heads, lance-heads,
and knives were encountered in the mound.

About one-half mile west from the entrance to Wasp
Lake, Washington Co., is a mound 3.5 feet high with circular
base of 48 feet diameter, standing in a field belonging to S.
H. McClintock. Fourteen trial-holes brought to view no
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human remains, tho two broken vessels of inferior ware were
found.

About 5 miles up Wasp Lake, on the west side, somewhat
less than a mile above Jaketown, are six mounds in the imme-
diate vicinity of the landing and a number of smaller mounds
some distance away. Two are large quadrangular mounds
with summit-plateaus and evidently domiciliary; one, a low
flat mound; another thru which a road has been cut; while
two are mounds from 3 to 5 feet in height, which have been
considerably reduced in diameter to make way for a railroad.
One of these mounds apparently had contained many burials.
Spread over the neighboring fields were many fragments of
shell and numerous bits of earthen-ware, some of the latter
shell-tempered and some not. Nearly all were undecorated,
tho some bore a beautiful bright red pigment on both sides,
which proved to be red oxide of iron.

~ Near the Tchula road from Silent Shade Landing, and in
full view from the highway, are two mounds within a few
feet of each other.

Mound A to the north, on property belonging to Mr.
Robert E. Warfield, of Tchula, Miss., is 5 feet 7 inches high
and 50 feet in diameter. An excavation was made by us 16
feet by 10 feet, with perpendicular walls. As usual, the outer
part of the mound proved to be soft, the inner part hard and
tenacious. Only seven hurials were encountered. Nineteen
inches down was a deposit of calcined fragments of human
bones; on top of part of this deposit was a small undecorated
bowl of inferior ware, in fragments.

Two skeletons at full length on the back, almost in a con-
dition to crumble into dust, lay side by side 3 feet 8 inches
down, the heads directed south-west. Near the skull of one
were two small undecorated vessels of ordinary shape, and
of inferior porous ware, both in fragments. With these
vessels were two hammer-stones. The second skeleton also-
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had near the skull a vessel similar to the others. On the
chest was an ornament of wood, rotten thru and thru, which
had been coated with sheet-copper, a few fragments of which
still adhered. This circular ornament, flat on one side and
convex on the other, had a diameter of 2.5 inches, a thickness
of three-quarters of an inch. Near the surface of the mound
were two undecorated pots of crude ware, found in frag-
ments.

Mound B, on property of Mr. S. S. Hudson of Vicksburg,
Miss., is 4 feet 10 inches high and 46 feet in diameter. An
excavation with perpendicular walls, 10.5 feet by 10 feet, and
5 feet 7 inches in depth, was sunk in the central part of the
mound. Some human bones and some broken vessels of
earthen-ware were found.

About one-half mile east-south-east from the landing at
the Carey Middleton gin, on property of Mr. Carey Middle-
ton, are two mounds in a cultivated field, about three hundred
yards apart.

Mound A, 6 feet 3 inches high, much spread by cultiva-
tion, has a diameter of 64 feet. A hole 9 feet by 12 feet was
carried down into undisturbed ground below, revealing
decayed human bones and teeth.

Mound B, north-east by east from Mound A, is 5 feet 10
inches high and has a present diameter of 60 feet, no doubt
much increased by the cultivation of the mound. An excava-
tion 9 feet by 11 feet was made to a depth of somewhat more
than 6 feet, disclosing fragments of calcined human bones.

Not far from the Carey Middleton mounds is another
which our agent informs us is somewhat larger than the ones
investigated.

Our agent reported a mound near Montgomery Landing,
Holmes Co., which we did not visit, not having been able to
obtain permission to dig.

Near the head of the Yazoo River side of Honey Island
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on the plantation of Mr. A. W. Evans, about half a mile
north-east by east from the landing at Golddust, are two
mounds in a cultivated field, in full view of each other, both
much spread by cultivation. One, largely of sand, has a
height of 4 feet 4 inches and diameters of 78 feet and 64 feet.
The other mound, partly of sand, 2 feet 10 inches high, with
diameters of 38 feet and 54 feet, has somewhat below the
surface a great deposit of mussel-shells, mostly badly crushed.
Some less broken than the rest have been determined by Dr.
H. A. Pilsbury as Quadrula pyramidata, Q. plicata, Lampsilis
fallaciosus, all shell-fish still found in the Mississippi Valley.

Two mounds near Sheppardtown Landing, Laflore Co.,
described by our agent, were passed by us without a visit.

There are a number of mounds near Shell Bluff Landing,
Laflore Co., on properties belonging to Messrs. W. G. Poin-
dexter and F. M. Southworth. These mounds so nearly
resembled others in which we had been unsuccessful that we
decided not to delay our journey.

Two small mounds near Phillipston Landing, Leflore Co.,
on property belonging to Mr. F. M. Southworth, were not
investigated by us for the same reason that those at Shell
Bluff Landing were not dug into.

Two mounds near Oakwood or Roebuck Landing, Leflore
Co., belonging to Mr. Herman Aron, were likewise not visited
by us.

On property of Mr. S. J. Stein, of Greenwood, Miss., at
the roadside, about one-quarter of a mile north-north-east
from the landing, at the union of the Yalabusha and the
Yazoo Rivers, Leflore Co., is a mound almost circular in basal
outline, with height of 3.5 feet and diameter of 46 feet. A
central excavation 10.5 feet by 8.5 feet by 4 feet deep yielded
neither bone nor artifact. .

In a cultivated field, a short distance from Ashwood Land-
ing, Leflore Co., on property belonging to Mr. W. C. George,
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of Greenwood, Miss., is part of a mound, the remainder hav-
ing disappeared through cultivation and through wash of
rain.

Two small mounds, said by our agent to be about 1.5
mile from Star West Landing, Leflore Co., and owned by
Mr. P. M. Aldridge, of Greenwood, Miss., were not dug into.

On the plantation of Dr. J. H. Lucas, of Greenwood,
Miss., about 5 miles above Greenwood, Leflore Co., on the
west side of the river, all in sight from the bank, are three
mounds. The northernmost is a remnant immediately on the
bank. The next, in a cultivated field, has a small modern
cemetery upon it. The third, in the same field, much spread
by plowing, is 6 feet 4 inches in height, and 82 feet across its
circular base. Fourteen trial-holes were sunk without result.

In sight from Racetrack Landing, Leflore Co., on prop-
erty of Mr. S. F. Jones, is a mound with irregular circular
base, 107 feet in diameter, 20 feet across the circular sum-
mit plateau, and 24 feet in height. The mound, tho fur-
rowed by rain and somewhat cut by cultivation at the base, is
still symmetrical and presents an imposing appearance. Three
trial-holes in the summit-plateau, each 5 feet in depth, were
without result.

On our way up the river our hopes had been buoyed by
reports which our agent had heard of a carved vessel of
stone, with a top of like material, which, it was said, had been
taken from the mound at this place. The rumor turned out
to be without any basis whatsoever, nothing, we were assured
by Mr. Jones, having been taken from the mound.

At this point on the Yazoo River, there being no report
from mounds farther up to justify hope of greater success in
returns, the investigation of the river banks and the adjacent
territory was abandoned by us, altho abundant work had been
mapped out by our agent as far as Sharkey, about 70 miles
above by water.
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ON THE SUNFLOWER RIVER.

Mr. Moore’s investigations on the lower Sunflower River
included the following mounds and sites’:

Mound near Anderson Landing, Sharkey Co.

Mound near Bachelor Retreat Landing, Sharkey Co.
Three mounds near Wrong-end-up Landing, Yazoo Co.
Three mounds at Spanish Fort Landing, Sharkey Co.
Mound at Fairview Landing, Yazoo Co.

Mound on Fairview Plantation, Yazoo Co.

Three mounds at Stalonia Landing, Sharkey Co.

Many mounds near George Lake, Yazoo Co.

In woods about one-quarter of a mile south-east from
Anderson Landing, Sharkey County, on property probably
belonging to Messrs. George T. Houston & Co., is a mound
6 feet 7 inches in height and 62 feet across its circular base.
This mound, which gave evidence of former, but apparently
somewhat superficial, investigation, was dug out by us in the
central part, the excavation being 7 feet 6 inches, by 12 feet,
by 7 feet 4 inches deep, the sides of the hole being carried
squarely down.

Near the surface were disturbed human bones with which
were fragments of a vessel of yellow ware without shell-
tempering. This vessel is no. 1, figure 3, in Moore’s book
and figure 329 in this book. About 3 feet 9 inches from the
surface was a small undecorated bow! of dark ware (vessel
no. 2), in fragments, with mere traces of a skull and teeth
nearby. Six feet 9 inches down, presumably on the base of
the mound, near what were probably traces of human bones,
was vessel no. 3 (fig. 4, Moore; fig. 330, Brown). While we
were engaged on other and more superficial work in the
mound, an undecorated vessel in small fragments was encoun-
tered.

"Moore: Certain Mounds of Arkansas and Miss., Philadelphia, 1908, page 586.
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A mound at Pecan Grove, Sharkey Co., was not dug into
by Moore because of the presence of a house on it.-

By the roadside, in sight of Bachelor Retreat Landing,
Sharkey Co., on property of Mr. John Ross, is a mound much
worn by cattle, rain, and overflow. The present diameter of
the circular base is 60 feet; the present height 3 feet 7 inches.
Fourteen trial-holes resulted in the discovery of decaying
human bones.

In woods about three-quarters of a mile east from
Wrong-end-up Landing, on property of Mrs. J. E. Edwards,
is a circular mound with diameter of base and plateau respect-
ively 72 and 28 feet, and altitude of 7 feet 9 inches. Nine
holes were made in the summit and sides, revealing badly
decayed human bones.

Two other mounds about one-quarter of a mile in a north-
westerly direction from the one just described served as
foundations for pens for domestic animals in flood-time and
were not dug into.

My investigation of the ancient works at Spanish Fort
was conducted in June, 1917, about nine years after Moore’s.
I observed the following:

All indications point to Indian origin for this enclosure,
tho the name of Spanish Fort attaches to it. It consists of a
rough semicircle (fig. 12) north of the Sunflower River with
an earth-wall from 5 to 10 feet high and 40 to 60 feet wide
and a moat just outside of the wall with the same dimensions
and form inverted. No embankment runs along the river
front, which encloses the fort on the south. There are four
brief breaks in the wall, but none in the moat. The breaks
in the earth-wall may have been filled by stockades. There is
a modern burying-ground on each end of the wall near the
river. That the wall is rapidly weathering down may be
plainly seen at the enclosed graves. The area of the enclosure
is about 45 acres. Within the enclosure toward the south-
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east is a semicircular refuse-heap or dwelling-site accumula-
tion several feet thick and rich in shells and potsherds. The
shells seem to be the same as those found in the river at the
present time. Moore did considerable digging in this heap
without return. Medium-sized mounds flank the enclosure at
a distance of about 300 yards both up and down the river;
only the two nearer are shown in the drawing.

From Spanish Fort my route led me up the railroad;
Moore’s led up the river.

At Mr. Blooms’s a little more than a mile south of the

F16. 12. Indian enclosure at “Spanish Fort,” Sharkey Co.,
area about 45 acres.

village of Holly Bluff there is a group of three large mounds
and several small ones. Mr. Bloom’s house stands on a
mound between the railroad and the river. The largest
mound of the group is apparently about 9 or 10 feet high and
stands west of the railroad. These are perhaps the mounds
described by Moore as the Stalonia Landing group. Con-
siderable digging by Moore in the largest mound of the
Stalonia group was fruitless.

Somewhat less than a mile below Holly Bluff there are
two medium-sized mounds.

The mound in the village of Holly Bluff is said to be of
recent creation for the protection of stock against high water.
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What is probably the most wonderful group of mounds
and earth-works in the state (quite different in character from
Selsertown) exists about half a mile from the union of Lake
George with Sunflower River. The place lies south of the
lake on property belonging to Mr. W. A, Henry and is known
as Mound Place. It is a large field of mounds and depres-
sions surrounded by an carth-wall and outer moat. The wall

F1c. 13. Large central mound, Holly Bluff Group, on Lake George, Yazoo Co.,
height 55 to 60 feet. C. S. B

is now from 4 to 7 feet high and was no doubt higher when

in use. On the north side along the water front there is no

earth-wall. The ditch is more or less filled at most places.
Within the enclosure are a number of ponds and depres-

sions, from which earth was no doubt taken for the erection

of the tumuli; in fact the whole surface of the enclosure is

uneven, tho it lies in a flood-plain that is normally quite level.
The great central mound (fig. 13) is 35 or 60 feet high,
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commanding a view of the whole fortification. It is approxi-
mately square and its sides run approximately with the car-
dinal directions. The area of the base is about one and three-
quarter acres, the area of the uneven summit-plateau about
one-fifth of an acre. This fine mound has suffered greatly
from erosion and the trampling of cattle, and it is at present
difficult to locate the original approaches. I fancied that I
traced zig-zag ramps up the north and east sides of the
mound. Moore, who examined the mound nine years earlier,
says that the approaches were up these sides.

The second mound in size stands south-west irom the
great mound, has a rectangular base and an altitude of 22
or 23 feet; the area of the summit is nearly the same as that
of the great mound. It seems to have a direct right approach
up the north side.

Twenty-five or more mounds, many irregular in shape,
may be counted within the enclosure, and two others between
the enclosure and the Sunflower River. Almost all the
mounds within the enclosure have been cultivated, and no
doubt the forms of many have been altered. The residence
occupies one mound on the lake front; other mounds hold
houses or barns. Vast quantities of potsherds strew the
fields and mounds, with smaller quantities of flint-flakes,
shells, and burnt earth. The fine celt shown in figure 74
was picked up on one of the medium-size mounds during my
visit. This and other mounds seem to be burial mounds, for
~ we took out a number of human bones in a short while, and
the plows bring up quantities of bones and potsherds. A
report from the place since my visit says that the workmen
in running a road thru one of the mounds found many
human bones and some pieces of pottery.

This is a magnificent work of antiquity and should be
completely surveyed and mapped and preserved for future
generations. -
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The home of Brevoort Butler, the collector, was near the
Holly Bluff mounds; some of his material was found among
them.

Moore found on one of the low mounds an earthen-ware
pipe “probably representing a wolf or dog” (fig. 6, Moore;
fig. 207, Brown). Thirteen trial-holes sunk into this mound
by him were without reward. His other digging among the
mounds yielded only two skeletons.

Moore in his journey round the river between Spanish
Fort and Holly Bluff found several mounds near Fairview
landing and mentions two reported near Maybon Landing.

“In sight from Fairview Landing, on property of Mr.
William G. Childers, of Satartia, Miss., in a cultivated field,
are three mounds in line, but short distances apart. The
largest, much spread, had been considerably dug into previous
to our visit, and the smallest mound is in use as a cemetery.
Neither of these mounds was dug into by us. The third
mound, lying between the other two, is conical and fairly
symmetrical. Its height is 11 feet 6 inches; its basal diameter,
75 feet. A moderate amount of digging in this mound
showed that it, too, had been used as a cemetery in recent
times.

“Near Fairview Landing is a mound belonging to Mr.
S. S. Hearn, which we did not investigate, owing to the
presence of a house upon it.

“In sight from an arm of the river that here encircles a
small island, at the upper end of Fairview plantation, partly
cut away by the road, is a small mound also belonging to
Mr. S. S. Hearn. The height of this mound is 3 feet; its
diameter, 35 feet. Our investigation was unrewarded.

“Two mounds reported by our agents as near Maybon
Landing were not visited by us, permission to dig not being
forthcoming.”
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IN ISSAQUENA AND SHARKEY COUNTIES.

Dr. Eugene A. Smith in his manuscript notes of 1870
mentioned two groups of mounds in Issaquena Co.: a group
of four or five mounds, one quite high, just back of Mr.
Campbell’s in section 30 of T.9,R.6 W; a group of fourteen
in the neighborhood of Mr. Smith’s, in the third tier of sec-
tions of T. 12, R. 8 W, not far from Myersville. Mr. Smith’s
house was on one of the latter and there were four other
mounds within 150 feet of the house:

Clarence B. Moore' mentions but does not describe a
fine group of mounds near Mayersville (presumably the
group noticed by Dr. Smith), and one or more mounds near
Chotard, in the southern part of the same county.

At Hardee, Issaquena Co., east of the railroad and in
plain view from the train, is a large mound upon which
stands a big barn. There is also a small mound about fifty
yards from the large one.

From Issaquena Co. came the fine rattlesnake tablet illus-
trated in figures 182 and 183, and described in the accom-
panying text. '

On Deer Creek below Cary in Sharkey Co. are two small
mounds which I partially excavated in May, 1921. The first
of these lies about five miles south-west of Cary, and is much
spread by cultivation, being now not more than 1.5 to 2 feet
high. MTr. J. H. Moore, on whose property the mound stands,
began the excavation, and had removed 20 skulls before noti-
fying me. With the assistance of Mr. Moore and Mr.
Powers I took out about 25 more. Nearly half of the mound
was excavated, beginning on the north and taking a strip two
feet wide at a time. The skulls were packed very closely
along with other human bones in great quantities, and were
poorly preserved. Apparently there was no special orienta-

*Moore: Some Aborig. Sites on Miss. River, Philadelphia, 1911, pp. 368, 369.



MOUNDS AND EARTH-WORKS, 77

tion of the skulls or bones; some of the skulls faced up, some
down, some lay on the side.

The second mound is about a mile nearer Cary, and
about 350 yards from Mr. Robert Flannagin’s residence.
It is about 3.5 to 4 feet high and in cultivation. Beginning
on the east side, about one-fifth of the mound was excavated,
yielding 20 skulls. Here the same crowded method of burial
was observed as in the preceding smaller mound.

Relatively few artifacts were found in these two mounds:
a few pots were taken from each, some right side up, one at
least inverted. Most of the ware was black or gray, one
piece was red. Mr. J. H. Moore retains a pretty vessel only
2 inches high and 2.5 inches in diameter, with a decoration
of three parallel incised lines. Another vessel, entirely plain,
is 7 inches high and 7.3 in diameter, with opening 4.5 inches.
A beautiful piece, unfortunately in fragments, was found on
the surface of the larger mound, unusual in that the opening
was not circular but elliptical, with axes 2.4 by 1.6 inches.
It is described at length in the chapter on pottery.

Two knob-like objects of clay were found, each with a
perforation in the smaller end for suspension. A few stone
implements were found on the surface; these were of good
workmanship.

Just south-west of Cary, Sharkey Co., is a group of four
mounds, two large rectangular mounds and two small conical
ones.

Mound A, the tallest, is about 22 feet high, rectangular,
the lines running with the semi-cardinal points, measuring
north-east by south-west 80 feet on top, in the other direc-
tion 74 feet on top. It is much worn by rain and the tramp-
ling of stock. The original approach seems to have been
on the north-east end. There are a number of intrusion
burials.

Mound B stands about 200 yards east of A and near the

L
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railroad. It is rectangular, with the sides running with the
semi-cardinal directions, being 114 feet on top north-east by
south-west, and 100 feet in the other direction. The height
is about 18 feet. The embankments thrown up on top of the
mound during the Civil War still exist.

Mound C is about 100 yards south-east of Aj; it is of
the flat conical type and has been long under cultivation, at
present it is about 5.5 feet high and 75 feet in diameter.
Much of the northern side has been hauled away.

Mound ‘D is several hundred yards south of the others,
between the railroad and Deer Creek. This cultivated mound
is conical in form and now 3.5 feet high. The probe met no
resistance in this tumulus. Scattered about are fragments of
pottery, some of it shell-tempered; fragments of flint are
scarce.

There are said to be other mounds a mile further south.

Near the railroad a mile south of Rolling Fork, Sharkey
Co., is a group of three mounds on the property of Mr. F. B.
~ Graft, whose residence is on the one furthest to the west, the
middle-sized one. The group is just east of Deer Creek.

Mound A, the tallest, standing to the east, is 38 feet high,
and is nearly square on top, being 85 by 95 feet. It has
suffered much from erosion of rain and the trampling of
cattle. A slight elevation runs out from the base of it toward
the west. »

Mound B to the west, on which Mr. Graft’s house stands,
is at present (1921) 20 feet high; Mr. Graft expects to
lower it by nearly half.

Mound C south of A is near the barn; it has been worked
over and is now about 1.5 feet high. Mr. Graft reports that
nothing of consequence was found in it except burnt earth.

He knows of no artifacts found about here. I saw a
few fragments of pottery. Dr. Chaney told me in 1916 of a
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remarkable stone pipe which was found in the vicinity in
earlier days and taken to Arkansas.

At Mt. Helena, Sharkey Co., two or three miles north-
east of Rolling Fork, there is a large mound, on which is
located the home of Mr. George C. Harris, plainly visible
from the railroad (fig. 14). Mr. Harris, in a letter of Janu-
ary 23, 1917, gives the following data:

IF1c. 14, Mount Helena, near Rolling Fork, Sharkey Co. Residence of Mr.
George C. Harris,

The mound is rectangular in form, the longer axis being
north and south. The present dimensions in feet are:

North and south at bottom 270, at top 108;

East and west at bottom 210, at top 150;

Height about 25, tho somewhat greater in the rear.
The mound was cut down 10 feet in grading for the resi-
dence and most of the dirt put at the north and south ends.
No relics were found in this mound, tho it was cut down 10
feet and a cellar 7 feet deep was dug in it.
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There are two smaller mounds nearby, one standing
north-east about 300 feet, the other south-east about 900 feet.
The one to the north-east is very low, having been in cultiva-
tion for many years. It has yielded numerous relics, such
as broken pottery and stone implements, including a black
stone hatchet about 2 inches by 1 inch, highly polished skin-
cleaners, and one small arrow-head. This material was sent
to the Smithsonian Institution. The other small mound has
yielded no artifacts, nor have Indian graves been found in
that vicinity, within the knowledge of Mr. Harris.

Near Anguilla, Sharkey Co., is a mound of considerable
size, standing west of the railroad and easily seen from the
train. It stands near a residence and has what seems to be a
cistern-house upon it. A letter from Mr. Fields gives the
height as about 18 feet after leveling on top, very little having
been cut away; the periphery at base is 480 feet, at top
200 feet. -

At Panther Burn, near the north-west corner of Sharkey
Co., I saw from the train what seemed to be a low Indian
mound standing east of the railroad. Mr. J. W. Johnson
writes me that back of this mound about a mile farther east
there is a group of four mounds. Mound A, the largest
stands to the north, is 20 or 25 feet high, and has a spur or
apron about 10 feet high extending toward the east; mound
B to the east is about 12 feet high; mound C to the south is
the lowest, being only 6 feet high; mound D to the west is
about 10 feet high. From A to C is about 450 feet, from A
to D about 180 feet.

IN WASHINGTON COUNTY.

A mile and a half or two miles south of Arcola, Washing-
ton Co., the railroad passes thru a group of six aboriginal
mounds. The railway here runs almost due north and
south; mounds A, B, C, and D are west of the railroad,
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mounds E and F and two ponds are east of it. The three
largest mounds are rectangular.

Mound A farthest north is a conical mound, now in cul-
tivation, and 5 feet high. Pieces of burnt clay with cane
impressions are found here, and fragments of pottery and
other artifacts seem more abundant than about the other
mounds.

Mound B is the great dominant mound, standing 27 feet
above the plain and commanding a magnificent view. It is
rectangular in form, with steep sides; a gentler approach
leads up from the east.

Mound C is a small conical mound in cultivation and no
doubt much spread; the present height is 3 feet. It stands a
short distance south-west of B and north-west of D.

Mound D is 14 feet high, rectangular in form, with
lines following the cardinal directions. This is the most
southern of the group. It has been used for modern burials.

The rectangular mound E faces B across the railroad.
It is 12 feet high, and is at present in pasture.

Mound F is small and stands still farther to the east or
somewhat to the south of east.

There are two depressions with water east of the railroad.
Pond 1 extends irregularly around the north and east sides
of mound E. Pond 2 is a little circular pool farther to the
north. The creek is farther east.

There are mounds in the triangle made by the three
railroads connecting Leland, Stoneville, and Elizabeth, in
Washington County. Just west of the railroad between
Leland and Elizabeth may be seen from the train two
mounds, one of which is quite tall, the other about half as
high. These form part of the so-called Avondale mounds,
described and figured by the Bureau of Ethnology, 1890-91.

According to the Bureau account the tallest was 30 feet
high, nearly 200 feet long, and about 175 feet broad, and
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was used as a graveyard for white people; the second in size
was 15 feet high and used as a graveyard for negroes. West
of the largest mound was a depression of about three acres
from which the material was probably taken to build the
mound. Many fragments of pottery and pieces of burnt
clay with impressions of cane and grass were found near
the surface of the small mounds. According to the illustra-
tion given (fig. 161; fig. 15 in this book), there were seven

Fic. 15. The Leland Mounds (Avondale Mounds), Washington Co., reduced from
12th Ann. Rept. of Bu. of Am. Ethn,, 1890-91, p. 260, fig. 161.

mounds in the group. One of the smaller mounds was
opened but no human bones or evidences of burial were
discovered.

Just north of the railway between Leland and Stoneville
on the Sherwood place there is a medium-sized mound with
tombstones on it.

A few miles to the east, on the Dunleith plantation in
Washington County, there is a group of mounds. They
stand south-west of Dr. Alfred H. Stone’s residence and near
the bayou. The largest is 14.5 feet high, is approximately
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square, and has an area of one-eighth of an acre on top. Two
others are situated nearby toward the south-east, the nearer
small, the remoter considerably larger. To the north-east are
three more elevations quite irregular in outline; whether
natural or artificial, I did not determine. There are very
few potsherds and flint fragments lying about, and no shells,
tho the bayou is large and deep. Nevertheless a number of
relics have been found on the plantation.

There is also an isolated mound of medium size on
another part of the Dunleith plantation perhaps a mile south
of the station.

One of the finest group of mounds in the state is the Win-
terville group (fig. 16), situated about a mile south of Win-
terville, Washington County, and five or six miles north of
Greenville. This group is about two miles from Black Bayou
and but little farther from Point Chicot on the Mississippi
River. These mounds are also called the Blum mounds and
the Hunt mounds.

A group of mounds described and plotted in 1879 from
notes by James Hough' would seem to be the Winterville
group. The position seems to correspond closely with the
Winterville group, tho the plot of the mounds is not accurate
for that group. The height of the great central mound is
given as 55 feet.

In 1907 Mr. Clarence B. Moore made a very careful and
detailed study of the prehistoric site at Winterville and in
1908 published his findings. The following description is
condensed directly from Mr. Moore’s publication® and the
map is reduced from Mr. Moore’s map.

The group on a plantation belonging to A. Blum, Esq.,
consists of a great central mound, marked A, 55 feet high,

*Annual Report of the Smithsonian Institution for 1879, pp. 383, 384.
*Moore: Certain Mounds of Ark. and of Miss.,, Part III: The Blum Mounds,
Philadelphia, 1908, pp. 593-600.
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surrounded by fourteen other mounds, marked B to O inclus-
ive, forming an irregular ellipse. The axes of this ellipse are
about 1600 feet north-east and south-west and 1000 north-
west and south-east.

These mounds on the river plain and consequently on land
subject to overflow are not however exposed to wash of
water in time of flood, it is said, the distance from the river
being such that the current has no influence. The summits
of the more important mounds of the group, so far as known,
have never been submerged, the usual rise of water, about
the mounds when there is a flood being, it is said, from 3 to
5 feet.

The irregularity of outline of some of the mounds is
probably due to long-continued cultivation, to the constant
tread of cattle and mules, to the deep and extensive rooting of
hogs, and to the wash of rain.

Mounds A and J have approaches from the north-east;
mound C has an approach from the south-west. They thus
have their approaches from within the enclosure. Mound
D has an apron or platform toward the north.

The height of a mound often depends on the side from
which the measurement is made. The subjoined list gives
the altitudes of the Winterville mounds, as taken from within
the enclosure, together with other descriptive matter:

Mound A—55 feet; summit 100 by 132 feet.

Mound B—13 feet 2 inches; summit 44 by 60 feet.

Mound C—19 feet 6 inches; summit 90 by 136 feet.

Mound D—17 feet 6 inches; summit 60 by 112 feet.

Mound E— 0 feet 7 inches; partly cut away for a road.

Mound F— 9 feet 7 inches; oblong.

Mound G— 4 feet; nearly circular.

Mound H— 7 feet 7 inches; slightly elliptical.

Mound I— 9 feet; irregular outline.

Mound J—30 feet 10 inches; summit 76 by 80 feet.
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Mound K—I12 feet 5 inches; oblong.

Mound L— 7 feet 6 inches; slightly elliptical.
Mound M— 7 feet 3 inches; circular.

Mound N— 8 feet; circular.

Mound O—10 feet 10 inches; oblong.

Certain small elevations outside and inside the ellipse,
probably dwelling-sites, have not been indicated in the plan.

The Winterville mounds and surrounding territory have
comparatively no history as to the discovery of artifacts or
of human remains. No human bones were seen by us on
the surface, though extensive ditching had been done, and
much of the level ground and a number of the mounds are
regularly plowed over; and only a limited number of frag-
ments of earthen-ware lay around—all this lack of signs of-
former occupancy being in marked contrast with our experi-
ence at the great group of mounds at Moundville, Alabama.

We commenced to investigate the Winterville group of
mounds by sinking trial-holes in the summit-plateaus of the
mounds, and in the level ground where appearances indicated
the possible presence of a cemetery, with the intention, should
burials be discovered, of prosecuting the search in a more
thoro way. The trial-holes in the Blum mounds were
intended to be 6 feet long by 3 feet wide and 4 feet deep,
but as the material of which the mounds were made was, as
a rule, a tenacious alluvial deposit, dried comparatively hard
and in places still further hardened by fire, the dimensions
given were not always adhered to exactly. Sometimes when
ground unmistakably undisturbed was reached, the holes
were not carried to a full depth of 4 feet.

Mounds A, C, E, H, I (previously opened), M, N, and O,
yielded nothing.

Mound B contained recent burials. Mound D yielded an
isolated skull badly decayed, and fragments of another



MOUNDS AND EARTH-WORKS. 87

skull. Mound F yielded a small oblate-spheroidal vessel of
coarse ware from near the surface.

Mound G gave nine double-pointed fish-scales, identified
by Mr. H. W. Fowler as probably belonging to the alligator-
gar (Lepisosteus tristoechus), a fish abundant in the lower
Mississippi River. The scales of this fish, which Du Pratz
calls poisson-armé, are said by him sometime to have served
as points for the arrows of aborigines of the lower Missis-
sippi region.

Mound ] afforded the skeleton of an adult, at full length
on the back, two and a half feet below the surface.

Mound K contained a number of fish-scales, one over-
lapping the other as if a portion of the fish had been present
originally; and also five small pots and a fragment of excel-
lent yellow ware.

Mound L had the skeleton of an infant about two feet
below the surface.

In the level ground a large number of trial-holes were
also dug. ,

Thruout the digging, sherds were rarely met with. Such
as were found in the trial-holes, and those encountered on
the surface, were mainly of common ware, though a few,
including one we have already described, were of excellent
material—one fragment of black ware having an especially
high polish on both sides. Decoration, when present, almost
invariably consisted of simple designs rudely incised. Decor-
ation with red paint was several times found.

On the surface were a small chisel wrought from a pebble
of chert, and a disk of pottery which had been given its form
before baking and had not been cut from a fragment of an
earthen-ware vessel.

From the trial-holes came mussel-shells which have been
identified by Dr. H. A. Pilsbry as Quadrula perplicata; Q.
heros; Lampsilis anodontoides. '
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We are at a loss to account for our limited success in
finding burials and artifacts in the neighborhood of the
Winterville mounds. We know that domiciliary mounds,
such as those forming this group probably were, are often
without burials in their summit-plateaus, but one would
expect to find cemeteries in the surrounding level ground.
Did such cemeteries still exist in the neighborhood of the
mounds, it is strange that we failed to find them—for one
rarely digs to any extent among skeletons without encounter-
ing some of them. If cemeteries underlie the cultivated
fields (and practically all the territory near the mounds has
been under cultivation for a long time) one would look for
numerous accounts of the finding of bones and artifacts in
post-holes, in trenching, and in cultivation; but such accounts,
as we have seen, are not forthcoming.

I need not add anything further to Mr. Moore’s account
than to say that on the occasion of my visit to these mounds
in August, 1916, there were very many fragments of pottery
and flint on and about mound D, which was exposed to the
trampling of stock.

The group of mounds at Shadyside Landing, Washington
Co., was investigated by Moore in 1911 and a report' pub-
lished the same year, which is here condensed:

Near Shadyside Landing are three mounds which would
be in full view from the Mississippi River but for the pres-
ence of trees. Near these mounds are various small ridges
and flat elevations, which evidently were aboriginal dwelling-
sites, tho apparently much of their superficial parts had dis-
appeared.

The mound nearest the Landing is of irregularly circular
outline, with basal diameter of 166 feet, and height of about
13 feet. Trial-holes yielded no return.

*Moore: Some Aborig. Sites on Miss. River, Philadelphia, 1911, pp. 388 and fol.
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In full view from this mound is another somewhat larger
but much spread, and evidently considerably reduced in
height thru wash of rain and trampling of feet. In fact a
house built upon the mound, resting on supports, has beneath
it a part of the mound about 2 feet higher than the rest of
its surface. In fig. 13 [of Moore] is shown this house under
which may be seen the ground rising as described.

Within a few feet of this mound is the third one, having
a circular base about 95 feet across, and a height of 7.5 feet.
Our digging in this mound was not rewarded.

A short distance in a north-westerly direction from the
mound nearest the river is a small flat rise in the ground,
on which were some fragments of pottery and other debris.
This area was fairly riddled with our trial-holes, which
showed that burials had been put down from a higher level,
but that most of them were near the surface owing to the
amount of material which had been ploughed and washed
from that part of the site. There were found here fifteen
burials, including a bunched burial containing the bones of
four persons. With the bunched burial were the crumbling
remains of a small earthen-ware vessel. '

A few feet east of the ridge which we have described was
another or perhaps an extension of the mound. The surface
of this ridge was covered with fragments of pottery and bits
of human bone were plentiful on it. This ridge or extension
was thoroly investigated, but it became evident that nearly
all the made ground which had formed during aboriginal
occupancy had been worked or washed away, as but two
burials were found, one a bunch burial having a single adult
skull, the other a burial of the same class with ten skulls.
The upper part of the burial was visible on the surface,
while none of it lay more than one foot deep.

With the latter burial were three vessels of earthen-ware:
one of medium size, having a body with four lobes, without
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decoration; another badly crushed, on which were two
encircling incised lines; a third (fig. 14, Moore; fig. 326,
Brown) having a round opening and a square, flat base on
which were a number of concentric, incised squares. The
body of the vessel has incised encircling lines, containing
diagonal ones. With this burial also were part of a small
celt of fine-grained sandstone, and near the surface a fine
pipe of limestone (plate xxix, Moore; figs. 216, 217, Brown),
representing a human figure on hands and knees.

On the surface, near this burial, was a small barbed
arrow-head of white flint. Scattered in the soil were found
also: two small rude celts; a pebble shaped to resemble some-
what a celt; a pebble grooved to form a pendant; a pebble
with an artificial semi-perforation; part of an antler 5.5
inches long; a number of small chisels chipped from flint
pebbles.

All other ridges and rises at this interesting place were
carefully dug into by us, but while it was evident that they
were of artificial origin, it was also apparent that the parts
in which burials probably had existed, had washed or worn
away.

IN BOLIVAR AND OTHER COUNTIES.

On the Virginia plantation belonging to the heirs of Mr.
Charles Scott, between Rosedale and the southern part of
Bolivar Co., are a large mound and a small low one near
each other, and two other mounds at some distance. Moore’s*
account of his work here is condensed in the following para-
graphs:

About two miles in a north-east by east direction from
Neblett Landing there is on the old Neblett place, now known
as Virginia plantation, the property of Mr. Charles Scott of
Rosedale, Miss., a mound about 7 feet high. It is nearly

'Moore: Some Aborig. Sites on Miss. River, Philadelphia, 1911, pp. 391-400.
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square and has a summit-plateau. The entire mound has
been under cultivation that has rounded its corners and
extended its diameter, which, at the time of our visit, was
about 125 feet. Trees on the side of this mound show it to
have suffered extensive wash of rain, the roots of one tree
being exposed for 2.5 feet above the present surface. The
mound presumably has suffered more extensively on the sides
than on the level top, tho it was evident that the plateau also
had suffered to a considerable extent. Some burials were
found partly uncovered by the plow, and presumably many
more had been totally destroyed.

In shape this mound has every appearance of having been
a domiciliary one, and our digging in it, which lasted two
and one-half days, with seven men, confirmed this view, for
while the mound contained many burials in the summit-
plateau and part-way down the sides, it was evident that
these had not been made during the building of the mound,
but had been sunk from the surface after its completion. The
mound was composed largely of raw clay material, with more
or less sand. The graves, none deeper than three feet, had
been dug into this material, which had a distinctive color,
making it easy to define the limits of the graves. Presum-
ably, then, a domiciliary mound had been utilized superficially
as a place of burial.

Sixty-five burials came from this mound, of which forty-
four were bunched burials. Three of these latter were note-
worthy in that, instead of having the long-bones in layers or
in piles horizontally, they were arranged almost vertically in
the ground. Of the bunched burials, some contained seven,
eight, and even twelve skulls. The bones at this place were
badly decayed, none being in a condition for preservation.

In connection with eight burials—five bunched burials
and three extended ones—bark was present, usually below
the burial, but exceptionally, above it. Presumably, however,
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other burials in the mound had been accompanied with bark,
which had disappeared through decay.

. The only objects, except earthen-ware vessels, found in
the soil apart from burials, were a pebble-hammer and a
piercing implement of bone. Singularly few artifacts, except
earthen-ware, had been placed with burials in this mound.
Ninety-one vessels of earthen-ware lay with burials in this-
mound and six vessels were found apart from them. Of the
ninety-seven vessels, twenty-four were unbroken or nearly
so, most of the remainder being badly crushed.

The bunched burials at this place had their full share
of earthen-ware vessels, the deposits with some of the larger
burials being greater than those with smaller ones.

Burial no. 17, consisting of six skulls of adults and one of
a child, lay upon bark, and had with it thirteen vessels, an
interesting feature being that some of these are diminutive
and evidently had been placed with the burial on account of
the child included with it.

" Burial no. 33, in which were eight skulls, two of them
having belonged to children, was accompanied with eight
vessels, and here again toy vessels intended for children were
present.

The pottery from this mound is not of the best, and no
vessel shows a polished surface. Decoration is a marked fea-
ture of the ware, consisting in the main of line-work,
engraved, incised, or trailed, with much repetition of design.
Decoration in color is present on but two vessels, a design
in red and white in each instance. Moore gives ten illustra-
tions of this pottery, figures 15 to 24, seven of which are
reproduced in the chapter on pottery in this book, figures 319
to 325, to which the reader is referred for full descriptions.

In sight of the mound just described is a considerably
larger mound, the surface of which apparently has not been
under cultivation. It is said that this mound has been used
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largely for burial purposes in recent times. A number of
trial-holes sunk in the summit-plateau were unproductive.

Between the two mounds was level ground which had
been long under cultivation. On the surface were scattered
some debris from aboriginal sites and a few fragments of
human bones. A considerable number of trial-holes in this
ground came upon three burials, with one of which was an
inferior vessel of earthen-ware.

There was described and illustrated by Squier and Davis'
a circular enclosure with mounds situated in the southern
part of Bolivar Co., near William’s Bayou in the Choctaw
bend, one mile and a half from the Mississippi River. These
works are plotted in figure 22 of their book and described as
follows:

They consist of two truncated pyramidal mounds, accom-
panied by two small conical mounds, the whole surrounded by
a circular embankment of earth 2300 feet in circumference
and 4 feet high, there being no ditch. A gateway opens
into the enclosure from the east.

Mound A is 150 feet square at the base, 75 feet square
on top, and 20 feet high, with a graded ascent from the east.
Mound B is 135 feet square at the base, 50 feet at top, and
15 feet high, with ascent from the north. The two small
conical mounds are about 30 feet in diameter and 5 feet
high. The sides of the pyramidal structures do not vary two
degrees from the cardinal points.

Apparently the same group was described and illus-
trated thirty years later from notes by James Hough®. The
group is said to be on the plantation of Mr. William P.
Perkins. The dimensions correspond closely, but the direc-
tions appear to be confused. If the Hough drawing be
turned ninety degrees and viewed thru the paper it corres-

*Squier and Davis: Ancient Monuments, Washington, 1848, p. 116.
*Smithsonian Ann. Report for 1879, p. 385.



94 ARCHEOLOGY OF MISSISSIPPI.

ponds very closely to that of Squier and Davis. Hough notes
an additional mound outside the enclosure near the river.
I have not seen this group.

Mr. W. G. Trimble of Gunnison furnishes data of a
group of five mounds, near Gunnison, Bolivar Co., on the land
of his sister, Mrs. A. R. Blanchard. The mounds are now
nearly obliterated by the processes of occupation and culti-
vation. One seems to have been a burial mound. '

A short distance south of Alligator, Bolivar Co., is a
group of mounds which was investigated by Dr. Charles
Peabody in the summer of 1918. The first elevation exam-
ined was either a mound or a refuse-heap; from it were
obtained many potsherds and small stone pieces and some
excellent bone awls, but no whole pots or other artifacts of
striking interest. At the time of my visit Dr. Peabody was
just beginning the excavation of the second mound, a rela-
tively small one with height of about 5.75 feet. There are
also three other mounds in the group, the largest a rectangu-
lar domiciliary mound about 17 feet high. Dr. Peabody’s
report on this work has not been published.

There is a small mound west of the railroad at Shelby,
Bolivar Co. .

The Twelfth Annual Report of the Bureau of Ethnology
(page 258) describes briefly a mound in Sunflower County
near the shoals of Sunflower River which was about 125
feet long, 100 feet wide, and 25 feet high to the summit of
the cone near the eastern end. On it was a white oak 6 {eet
in diameter. In it were found human bones, burnt clay,
and clay vessels, including the interesting shell-shaped piece
pictured on page 259 of the report.

Malmaison, the old home of Greenwood Leflore, stands
a short distance north of the railroad in Carroll Co., between
Greenwood and Carrollton. The grave of the old chief is
in the family cemetery nearby. A mound is reported three
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or four miles to the south, about two miles from Valley Hill.

Seven miles east of Sidon, in Carroll Co., there is a group
of mounds near the iron bridge over Abiaca Creek. I vis-
ited them in 1906 but made no survey. I was told that bones
and skulls are sometimes plowed up in the adjacent field.
Here I found the diminutive celt shown in figure 78.

The town of Shellmound, Leflore Co., took its name
from a large Indian mound with abundance of shells on its
surface.

Three-fourths of a mile west of the railroad bridge at
Philipp, Leflore Co., there is a series of mounds or fortifi-
cations along the river and between two sloughs which lead
into it. A chain of irregular mounds or earth-works runs
parallel with the river; at its highest point near the west end
it is perhaps 24 feet high on the river side; the east end is
- much lower. The public road divides and runs on each side
of this line of earth-works. The photograph (fig. 17) shows
the west end as it was in the summer of 1916. There are
several mounds and remains of mounds in the cultivated
held to the south. The group deserves more extended study.
Mr. R. C. Townes reports that he has dug into two of these
elevations, uncovering skeletons and crude pottery.

In the town of Charleston, Tallahatchie Co., south-west
of the public square, there stands a conical mound of con-
siderable size, which has been in cultivation. On the top there
is abundance of burnt clay with straw impressions. In the
field nearby are various fragments, most abundant about 75
yards from the mound in the direction of town.

On the Buford place one mile north of Sumner, Talla-
hatchie Co., there stands on the west bank of the bayou a
much worn mound perhaps 22 to 25 feet high.

Under one of the stores in Tutwiler, Tallahatchie Co.,
is part of an old mound about 3 feet high, from which I saw
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bones protruding. Mounds are reported between Sumner
and Vance.

At Marks, Quitman Co., on the bank of Coldwater River,
are refuse-heaps, containing many shells, fragments of pot-
tery, and some bones. Mr. W. R. Wallis reports eight

Fic. 17. West end of Indian fort or mound at Philipp, Leflore Co., looking
east, Aug. 24, 1916. C. S. B.

mounds in the vicinity of Marks. The massive frog pipe
shown in figure 211 came from this vicinity.
IN CLARKSDALE AND COAHOMA COUNTY.

Clarksdale and the territory immediately about it were
formerly rich in mounds and earth-works; many of these
have been destroyed in the building of the city and the devel-
opment of the country. In this vicinity Mr. Charles W.
Clark collected much valuable material, which is still in his
private collection in Clarksdale.
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When 1 first visited Clarksdale, there stood on the east
bank of Sunflower River just north of the railroad bridge a
large mound partly cut away for a street and other pur-
poses. | estimated the height in 1912 at 13 or 14 feet and
the length parallel with the river as 220 feet. There was a
large arca on top apparently undisturbed. In 1918 this
mound appeared to be entirely removed. IFrom it Mr. Henry
Davis obtained a handsome earthen-ware bottle 10 inches
high and 7 inches in diameter, decorated with four sets of
concentric circles in color. This was no doubt the great
rectangular mound illustrated and described by the Bureau
of Ethnology in 1890-91",

The plan of the Clarksdale earth-works is given in figure
158 of the Bureau report by Col. P. W. Norris. According
to this plan and the accompanying description, which Mr.
Charles W. Clark of Clarksdale considers hurried and inac-
curate, the group consisted of a rectangular mound and three
conical mounds enclosed by an earth-wall, an excavation at
one end of the wall, and further away two other conical
mounds, a cemetery, and a number of house-sites. The
description, condensed, follows:

There is a semicircular inclosure fronting the river, the
surrounding earthen wall being partially obliterated by the
plow, tho sufficient remains to trace satisfactorily the line.
The length following the curve, as ascertained by pacing, is
2004 feet; the height where least disturbed is from 3 to 5
feet.

The largest and most interesting of the mounds is situ-
ated within the inclosure and directly on the bank of the
river, so that the slope of the west side of the mound is con-
tinuous with the slope of the bank. It is rectangular in form,
consisting first of a platform 5 feet high, which forms the
base, projecting as a narrow terrace on all sides except that

"T'welfth Annual Rept. of Bu. of Am. Ethn., 1890-91, Washington, 1894, pp. 256-8.
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next the river. Above this rises the mound proper, 20 feet
high, 153 feet long at the base, and nearly 100 feet wide. The
top is flat and level and on it now stands the village church,
but formerly there stood on it a little conical mound 5 feet
high and 25 feet in diameter, consisting as is stated almost
wholly of burnt clay, charcoal, ashes, and fragments of
pottery, beneath which were found a fine scallop-edged,
double-eared pot and a skeleton.

The other mounds are small and of the ordinary conical
form; the most northerly one, a cemetery mound, is but
slightly elevated and scarcely deserves to be called a mound.
The main portion of this low, dark-colored mound or slightly
elevated space was covered by a residence and small garden,
but along a few feet of its vacant northern edge some exca-
vations were made. The skeletons were nearly 3 feet below
the surface in a single tier, lying horizontally, but without
uniformity as to direction. The pottery, of which only two
entire vessels were obtained, like that from Dickerson’s
mound, is lighter-colored and thinner than usual.

Human bones having been found in grading a roadway
thru the low gravelly banks of a washout between the burial
mound and the river, trenches were cut in both banks. Human
bones, so hard as to be cut with difficulty by the spade, were
found thruout the 50 feet in length of the trench, both above
and below the road, but the heaviest deposit was above the
road on the north side, where they formed nearly a solid layer
of skeletons scarcely a foot below the surface. So many
entire skeletons were traceable that it is evident it was not a
deposit of bones from scaffolds, but a burial of bodies en
masse with little regard for regularity. No weapons, char-
coal, ashes, or pottery were found with them, and, altho
tradition gives us no information in regard to them, it is prob-
able that the burials were comparatively modern.

Still farther north where the ancient bayou joins the
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river valley, was found an extensive line of house-sites
marked by patches of burnt clay. In the excavations made
among these house sites a small stone mortar, a rude celt, and
two very fine ones, also many fragments of pottery, a number
of fleshers and scrapers were obtained; also a coarse clay
pipe, donated by Mr. John Clark.

The largest excavation at this place is situated at the
south-west corner of the inclosure. From this, in all proba-
bility, was obtained the material for building the large
mound.

The position of some of the mounds in Clarksdale, as
sketched for me by Mr. Charles W. Clark, differs consider-
ably from that indicated in the Bureau report. I give in this
paragraph the substance of Mr. Clark’s sketch. The great
mound extended along the east bank of the river all the
way from Third Street to the Y. & M. V. Railroad. The
next largest mound stood in the Y of the Tallahatchie branch
of the railroad, south of the main Y. & M. V. line, just about
in the line of Sharkey Avenue. It was about 15 feet high.
No burials or artifacts were found in it. Another small
mound stood between the great mound and Delta Avenue
near the present railroad; another in the courthouse yard.
In the latter were found Mr. Clark’s twin vase and two
copper hatchets. Remains of two mounds, one of which
stood west of the railroad hotel between Yazoo and Delta
Avenue and south of Third Street, the other at the extreme
north end of Yazoo Avenue, may still be seen. The latter
was near the side entrance to the old Clark home, now the
main entrance to the Cutrer residence. There were also
two mounds near the place where the continuation of Delta
Avenue strikes the old channel in the northern part of town,
one east of the road, one west. The earth-wall enclosed
much more ground than indicated in the report of the Bureau
of Ethnology.
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In 1901 Dr. Charles Peabody and Mr. William C. Farabee
under the auspices of the Peabody Museum of Harvard Uni-
versity opened a mound on the plantation of Mr. Elleston L.
Dorr, Jr., at Clarksdale, Coahoma County. The following
account of this work is taken from Dr. Peabody’s detailed
report:

The mound was a rectangular one, measuring north and
south 90 feet, east and west 60 feet; the height above the
surrounding field was 9.5 feet. Near the top was a trans-
verse trench one foot and two inches deep, probably the
result of tentative excavations previously made by the
owners.

The remains of fifty prehistoric burials were found. The
burials lay scattered through the mound with a greater num-
ber in the south-west quadrant. Their depth below the sur-
face varied from one foot to eight feet. As a whole they lay
deeper than the surface burials of the Edwards Mound.
Six were full-length burials, two were bundle burials, and
eight had the knees doubled up, most of the latter skeletons
lying on the side. Besides these prehistoric burials there were
fifteen modern burials in the mound.

There were found in the mound also projectile points,
fragments of pottery, charcoal in small bits, a bead of galena,
a tall bowl with triangular base, and a few shells.

The excavation of the mound was carried on from the
north, east, and south, and a parallelogram 80 feet from
north to south and 52 feet from east to west was dug through
down to the level of the surrounding field. The soil varied
from heavy sandy loam to the very heavy alluvial soil called
“buckshot.” No soil foreign to the district was noted.

With horses and a scraper the mound was restored on
May 18th nearly to its original appearance, and cotton was
immediately planted upon it.

*Peabody: Exploration of Mounds, Coahoma Co., Miss., Cambridge, Mass., 1904.
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Four small mounds in the neighboring field vary from
two to five feet in height.

The mounds at Oliver, Coahoma County, were investi-
gated in 1901 and 1902 by the same archeologists. The
account which follows is condensed from Dr. Peabody’s
detailed description in the publication just cited.

This group (fig. 18) is situated sixteen miles south of
Clarksdale on the land of Mr. P. M. Edwards. At least three
mounds are north of the Sunflower River; twenty are south
of it. The large central mound stands a short distance south
of the river near a small depression; it measures 190 feet
from north to south and 180 feet from east to west, and
has a vertical height of 26 feet. The other mounds are
small; the third from the east, called the cemetery mound,
is 5.4 feet high; the two nearest the great mound to the north-
east are somewhat over 3 feet high; the one farthest south is
2.5 feet high; the rest under two feet high.

The long irregular depressions in the surrounding fields
may have been formed originally by taking the soil for build-
ing; rain and ploughing having since lowered these hollows
till their significance has vanished. Search in the fields and
woods near by failed to reveal large pits, such as are in evi-
dence near the Carson group of mounds in the same county.

Surface specimens were abundant and good. Flint points
and knives of fine workmanship were scattered about by
the hundreds, and knives, celts, and other stone implements,
disks, and sherds of pottery were picked up in great numbers.

The principal investigation was made in the great central
Oliver mound. Of the total surface of 36,000 square feet of
this mound, more than 11,000 square feet were excavated.
Excavations on a small and informal scale were made in
mound 3, the cemetery mound, by Mr. Farabee, and tentative
diggings were tried elsewhere.

Shells were numerous in the north-eastern portion of
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Fig. 18. The Oliver Mounds, Coahoma Co. Redrawn from Peabody, plate vii.
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the central mound. Burnt clay in strata or nuggets was
abundant thruout, especially near the surface. Pottery frag-
ments and animal bones were more numerous in the upper
part of the mound than in the lower part, and in the eastern
half of the mound than in the western. Burials and unbroken
pottery were more frequent on the western slope, and holes
in the eastern half.

A characteristic feature of the Oliver mound was the
holes that occurred in great numbers, one hundred and
ninety-one of these being found and measured during the
two years’ work. They were usually vertical; otherwise the
base trended indifferently to the north, east, south, or west.
The great majority of them were empty or with an accumula-
tion of soft soil at the bottom. Many contained charcoal;
several charred wood; one a charred post; several contained
ashes; one wide shallow hole contained corn in considerable
quantity. Seventy-three of these holes had their tops at or
near a level about one-third the height of the mound; one
hundred and six holes had their tops at or near a level a
little higher. The 73 holes of the lower level when plotted
suggested a rude circle.

In the Oliver mound were discovered and noted 158
burials.- In many cases the skull when taken out was found
not worth preserving. The weight of the damp earth often
crushed and broke the bones. Otherwise the larger and
stronger bones were in a better state of preservation than at
Clarksdale. Burials were very numerous on the western
slope of the mound. No regularity as to their position in the
mound was observed, nor any reason for their greater fre-
quency towards the south and west.

There were 119 bundle burials, 35 full-length burials,
and 4 irregular burials. Heads were found toward all the
cardinal points, and a few toward a semi-cardinal point: most
bodies were on the back, three on the face, one on the side.
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Burial no. 14 (plate x in Peabody; figure 19 in this book)
was ‘“‘scissors-shaped,” with the legs folded at full length on
top of the body, and accompanied by a brass bell. Burial no.
49 was in a sitting posture. Burial 35 had no skull and was
accompanied by five arrow-points, one in the right pelvis,
one by the back bone, two among the ribs, and one between

Fie. 19. “Scissors-shape” burial, no. 14, Oliver mound. Reduced from Peabody,
plate x.

the spines of the back bone. Vases or pottery were found
with 41 burials.

Artifacts were abundant both on the surface and in the
mound ; among those found in the large Oliver mound may
be mentioned: a large variety of earthen-ware vessels (some
shown in figures 315 to 317), clay disks, clay pipes, burnt clay
with cane impressions; stone implements including projec-
tile points, perforators, scrapers, celts both polished and
chipped, hammer-stones, stone disks, perforated pendants, a
‘rough plummet; stone beads; shell beads, perforated shells;
glass beads; brass bells, brass points; bone perforators and
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projectile points (figures 256 to 260); and more than a
hundred turquoise beads.

The greatest depth recorded at which articles possibly of
white man’s manufacture were found was a little more than
three feet. There is no reason to believe, from the evidence
of the articles found, that the lower part of the Oliver
mound was constructed or disturbed after white contact.

The following animals were identified from bones found
during the exploration of the Oliver and Dorr mounds:

Deer (Cariacus virginianus).

Bear (Ursus americanus).

Raccoon (Procyon lotor).

Opossum (Didelphys virginiana).
Beaver (Castor canadensis).

Wildcat (Lynx rufus).

Rabbit (Lepus aguaticus).

Squirrel (Scinrus carolinensis).

Dog (Canis familiaris).

Turkey (Meleagris gallopavo americana).
Sheepshead (Aplodinotus grunniens).
Alligator Gar (Lepidosteus tristoechus).

Dr. Peabody sums up his conclusions as follows:

“The Edwards mound may be considered as a typical
Indian mound of a later period placed within a typical village
site. The characteristic features are first, the division of the
mound into an upper and lower part separated by strata A
and B, and second, the variety and richness of the articles
found at or near the surface of the surrounding field.

“Below the ‘critical level’ were the greater number of full
length burials; above it the greater number of bundle burials.
Below the ‘critical level’ were found but five of the sixty-
eight vases, and very few manufactured articles of any kind,
while above it they were frequent. These facts, coupled
with the amount of ashes in stratum B and with the rude
ring of holes above referred to, induce to the opinion, that
the mound has been built in two periods: that the lower por-
tion was gradually built and used as a burial place, that a
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stockade of posts was set up about a centre to the east of a
later apex; that, after a period of occupancy, this stockade
was burnt down, and another population continued to build
the mound-to a conical apex some ten feet higher. Further
we conclude that the latter people buried their dead from
time to time, generally intrusively in the bundle fashion
and deposited pottery, and necklaces and strings of stone,
shell, and glass beads with the bones; further that the latter
people were undoubtedly post-Columbian and were well
skilled in working stone and had some acquaintance with
white people and other tribes, at least by trade. . . .

“The most striking characteristic of the specimens found
is the consummately good workmanship bestowed on the
smaller flint implements, particularly the scraper, in compari-
son with the rudeness and the infrequency of the larger
forms belonging to the stone age. The specimens, except the
turquoise, are what would be expected from the civilization
of the Arkansas-lower-Mississippi district. In connection
with this a paucity of worked shells is to be noted.”

There are three small mounds west of Bobo in the south-
ern part of Coahoma Co.

Three miles north-west of Clarksdale up the river on the
Oak Ridge road there are one or two small mounds. Five
miles out the same road at the Rufus Davis place there is
a large mound with a house upon it. About 150 yards from
this mound back from the river is a smaller mound with
large trees upon it. In front of the large mound on the river
bank by the road are found many potsherds.

About Coahoma and Friar’s-Point in Coahoma Co. there
are a number of mounds. '

Two and a half miles north-east of the town of Coahoma
there is a group of mounds consisting of two large mounds
and several small ones. There are recent burials on the tall-
est. The group has not yet been surveyed and studied.
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A mound is reported on the Roselle place two miles south-
west of Coahoma.

The present writer has never examined the Dickerson
mounds located a few miles east of the Mississippi River in
northern Coahoma County. They were visited about 1883
or 1884 by Col. P. W. Norris and described in the Twelfth
Annual Report of the Bureau of Ethnology as follows:

“On the Dickerson farm, 4 miles east of Friar’s Point, is
another interesting group of mounds. These are situated
on the dry, gravelly bank of the Sunflower River. There is
no inclosure, but several fields of the farm are literally strewn
with stone chips and fragments of ancient pottery, and upon
long oval hillocks are found numerous fragments of human
bones.

“The Sunflower is here scarcely a creek during low
water and its gravelly banks are high above the floods; yet
the mounds are mostly oblong or oval and flat on top, like
those found on the bottoms subject to overflows. They are
built as usual of the material from adjacent ground, which,
being gravel instead of clay or mud, rendered the outlines
of the beds of burned clay distributed through them more
distinct than usual. Most of them seem to have been the
sites of dwellings, the same as those upon the bottoms; yet
on the intermediate areas are saucer-shaped depressions, indi-
cating that the earth lodge so common farther north had
been in use here.

“Of the numerous mounds explored only one was found
to be a true cemetery of the ancient inhabitants. This was,
as usual, one of the least conspicuous of the group. The
first tier of skeletons was barely covered and the vessels,
which are usually a little higher than the skeletons, were
broken into fragments, only one whole one being found
in this tier. The next tier was about 2 feet below the
first and the bones more decayed. Relatively fewer vessels
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were found and these so badly broken that but two bowls
were obtained entire. The third tier was 2 feet below the
second, or 5 feet from the top, and slightly below the original
surface of the ground.

“As less than a hundred skeletons were found here, there
are doubtless other burying places in this group, but there
are so many modern burials in these mounds that it was
impossible to sink a pit without disturbing the skeletons of
whites and negroes.”

Near Stovall Station in western Coahoma County is a
large group of mounds and an earth-wall enclosure. This
section was visited about 1884 by Col. P. W. Norris and
later by Mr. W. H. Holmes, whose investigations are pub-
lished by Mr. Cyrus Thomas in a report of the Bureau of
Ethnology'. This report is summarized in the following
paragraphs:

Along the eastern bank of an old channel, on the planta-
tion of the Carson brothers, 6 miles south of Friar’s Point, is
an interesting group of mounds and earth-works. The gen-
eral plan of these works is shown in pl. xi [figure 20 in this
book]. In the north-west is an enclosure surrounded by an
earthen wall and a ditch. Nos. a to f are mounds. There
are also several excavations. The area embraced in the plat
is about 1 mile east and west and something over half a
mile north and south.

The inclosure fronts west for a distance of 738 feet on a
cypress swamp. It is in the form of a parallelogram, the
wall on three sides measuring 1173 feet long, and embracing
an area of about 5 acres. This wall is from 15 to 30 feet
wide at the base, and from 3 to 5 feet high. A ditch is dis-
tinctly traceable along the whole length of the outside, but
it is not exhibited on the plate.

Within this area, a little north-west [south-west?] of the

‘Twelfth Ann. Rept. of the Bu. of Ethn., 1890-91, Washington, 1894, pages 253-5.




F16. 20. The Stovall or Carson mounds and earth-works, Coahoma Co., length about one mile. Reduced from 12th Ann. Rept. of Bu.

of Am. Ethnology, pl. xi.
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. center, is a circular mound a, 192 feet in diameter at the

base, 15 feet high, and 66 feet across the nearly flat top.
There appears to have been originally a platform some 5 or
6 feet high, on which the mound proper was built. Several
excavations made in the top and on the sides showed that it
was composed of earth from the bottom land, probably
obtained from the excavation near the south-east corner of
the inclosure. A number of fire-beds of burnt clay were
found near the summit and at different elevations thruout
the mound. Charcoal, ashes, and fragments of pottery and
stone were also discovered, but no bones. It is probable,
therefore, that these spots mark the sites of houses.

Just outside of the south-west [south-east?] corner is
an artificial excavation about 100 feet in diameter, but now
partially filled and converted into a bog.

Mound b, shown in photograph in pl. xii, is double. There
are at the bottom indications of an oval platform, probably
10 feet high, with a length of 240 feet at the base. On this,
two truncated cones, which occupy the entire length, but not
the entire width of the platform, rise jointly for 18 feet,
and above the union rise separately 8 feet higher. The entire
height of the mound is therefore 36 feet [ Mr. Holmes’s esti-
mate is 25 feet]. The cones are level on top, the one being
42 feet in diameter at this point and the other 48. On this
mound, near the top of the northern cone, stands a thrifty
black oak, 5 feet in diameter. Little excavating was done in
this mound and nothing of interest found, except the ever-
present fire-beds of burnt clay, stone chips, and fragments
of pottery.

Mound ¢ is oval and rounded on top, 210 feet long, 150
broad at the base, and 16 feet high. This mound and several
smaller ones near it are so nearly masses of fire-beds, burnt
clay, fragments of stone and pottery, together with more or
less charcoal and ashes, as to indicate clearly that they are the
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sites of ancient dwellings thus elevated by accumulation of
material during long continued occupancy.

Mound d, pl. xii1 | fig. 21 in this book|, the finest of the
group, is roughly pentangular and very symmetrical, level
on the top, 25 feet high (including the platform), 310 feet
in diameter at the base, and 210 feet across the top. DBesides
the broad, sloping platform, 5 feet high, on which the mound
rests, there is near by, almost adjoining, a small mound which

Fic. 21. Mound d, Carson Group, Coahoma Co., from the 12th Ann. Rept. of
Bu. of Am. Ethn, pl. xiii.

forms a kind of appendage to the large one. This is about
100 feet long, 75 feet wide, and 8 feet high, rounded on top.
Not only are beds of hard burned clay (the fragments of
which show the casts of cane and grass) abundant upon the
surface and sides of the mound, but are also found in the
wells and cisterns and in other excavations made in digging
cellars and for the foundations of buildings. It is evident
from this that it was used as a dwelling-place or as a location
for a temple or some other public building.
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Mound e [fig. 22 in this book]| is double and similar in
almost every respect to 0. The platform is 5 feet high and
120 by 80 feet on top. Near the top of one cone is a red oak
tree, four feet in diameter, and near the top of the other a
black oak, 6 feet in diameter. In the depression between
the two cones a partially decayed skeleton was found in dig-
ging a grave for a person now interred there. This skeleton

Fic. 22, Twin mound ¢, Carson Group, Coahoma Co. Photograph by author.

was under a bed of burnt clay, and other similar beds are
found near the surface of the sides and summit.

Mound f is oval, rounded on top, 150 feet long by 75 feet
wide and between 5 and 6 feet high. A thoro examination
of this mound revealed the fact that from base to summit it
was composed of burnt clay, mud, or alluvial earth in irregu-
lar layers formed of lumps or little masses burned to a brick
red or actually melted into slag. Much of the top of this
mound is a deposit resembling mud or clay plastering, from
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which the sustaining canes and timbers have been burned out,
leaving their casts. It seems evident, therefore, that mud-
walled and perhaps partitioned dwellings stood here which
were destroyed by fire.

The places from which a part at least of the dirt was
taken that was used to form the mounds are shown by the
unevenness of the surface of the ground immediately around
them. But there are several excavations which must have
furnished a large portion of the material for this purpose.
They are still so deep as to form swamps, bogs, or open
ponds, some of the last being well stocked with fishes.

During all the excavations made and digging done by
the present proprietors, who have made all the improvements
there are on the plantation, but few skeletons have been
unearthed, and no whole vessels of pottery found. Still, it
is possible that more extensive explorations of the small
mounds may reveal these.

IN PANOLA, TUNICA, AND DE SOTO COUNTIES.

The Batesville mounds (fig. 23) are somewhat unusual
in that the principal conical mound C is so much taller than
the principal pyramidal mounds A and B. This group of
earth-works is situated about three miles north-east of
Batesville, Panola Co., just south-west of the crossing of the
Illinois Central Railroad and the Sardis public road, between
the two, and in sight of both.

Mound A, farthest north of the large mounds, is an
irregular rectangle with the sides 120 to 130 feet in length
and a maximum height of 7 feet. It has suffered much
from cultivation, particularly on the east and west sides
toward the south, so that now both the surface and the out-
lines are irregular. When T first visited the mounds in 1906
this one was better preserved than now, as I remember it,



114 . ARCHEOLOGY OF MISSISSIPPI.

tho I then noted its irregularity. Only part of it is now
(1918) in cultivation.
Mound B is slightly larger and higher and has suffered

F1c. 23. The Batesville Mounds, Panola Co., scale 1 to 400.

less from the ravages of time and cultivation. It is com-
paratively regular in outline and level on top.

Mound C is a fine conical mound 434 feet in circumfer-
ence, hence 138 feet in diameter at the base, and 20 to 21
feet high. The top is slightly flattened or truncated. It is
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very uniform in outline and well preserved. At present it is
covered with a thick growth of saplings.

Mound D is at considerable distance south by south-west
from the others and differs from the three just described in
that it is a very low flat conical mound. No doubt it has
been very much spread and hence lowered by cultivation; in
fact a little clump of bushes which has warded off the plow
for some years stands a foot and a half higher than the rest
of the mound, which is in cultivation. The barrow seems
somewhat elongated in its east and west axis, also probably
a result of plowing. The present height is 6.5 feet, except
under the little cluster of bushes, where it is 8 feet.

Mound E to the extreme north-east is quite low and
flat, being now not more than a foot and a half or two feet
high. No doubt it has been much modified by cultivation.

The following are the distances from centre to centre
of the mounds: A to B 318 feet; B to C 524 feet; C to D 860
feet.

An interesting feature of this group is the three pits or
holes west and south-west from mound B, the two northerly
ones of which are quite deep for their size, perhaps the deep-
est that I have seen. Earth was no doubt taken from these
for the construction of the mound or mounds; it is also pos-
sible that they were used for reservoirs or swimming-pools,
tho the Tallahatchie River is not far away. South of mound
D there is a depression trending east and west which may
have been an excavation for building material for that
mound or may have been a moat, but is most probably a
natural formation.

About these mounds fragments of flint abound and a
perfect arrow-head may be found occasionally. Fragments
of pottery are still seen, tho they are not so numerous as the
flint fragments. )

This is no doubt the group mentioned in the Amncient
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Monuments by Squier and Davis' as situated three miles
east of Panola, that being the old name of a village which
stood on the river near the site of the present town of
Batesville.

A few miles south-east of Delta, Panola Co., according
to Squier and Davis' there is a square enclosure of some 20
acres. It contains several mounds, one of which is 40 feet
high, truncated, and ascended by a graded way. Within this
enclosure there is also a square excavation 15 feet deep and
100 feet in diameter. It is surrounded by a low embank-
ment of earth 3 feet high. I know nothing of this group.

At Dundee, Tunica Co., there is a group of four large
mounds in approximately semi-circular arrangement and
several smaller ones. They are in a cultivated field and have
been altered by the plow. There is an abundance of pottery
fragments and burnt clay.

Mound A is 10 to 20 feet high, the ground on which it
stands being quite irregular.

Mound B is still higher. From it I dug a badly disinte-
grated skeleton which was partially exposed ; this was appar-
ently aboriginal, tho possibly an intrusion burial. A large
elm stands on top. The west side is very precipitous, Bear
Lake lying just back of it. .

Mound C is 14 to 16 feet high and more symmetrical than
A and B.

Mound D is flat and broad and has an altitude of 4
or 4.5 feet. Medium sized trees stand on it.

A mound two miles north-west of Dundee was reported to
me but not visited.

At Evansville, Tunica Co., there are four or more mounds.
The largest mound stands just at the west end of the main -
street of the town. It has been badly abused by cultivation
and erosion; it now measures on top approximately east and

!Squier and Davis: Ancient Monuments, Washington, 1848, p. 113.
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~west 95 feet, north and south 55 feet. The height is from
14 to 18 feet, the west end being higher than the east.

North-west of the large mound is a smaller one with a
school-house upon it. South-west of the great mound about
225 feet is a small mound in cultivation.

South of town half a mile, overlooking Beaver Lake, is
another large mound, lower on the east and higher on the
west, the major axis being twice the minor. The trees on it
are but little more than a foot in diameter and apparently the
mound has been cultivated in former times. A few white
people have been buried in this mound. It is said that Dr.
Southworth took some pottery and other artifacts from this
mound about 1880.

Between the town mounds and this one, especially in the
first quarter of a mile from town, there are quantities of
pottery fragments, some of them quite large, indicating that
they are still being plowed up. This was probably a burial-
ground. There are two places on the public road where I
observed quantities of burnt clay with cane impressions, one
near town, the other about 400 feet north of the southern
mound. ‘

There are depressions north to east of each of the large
mounds, from which earth may have been taken for the con-
struction of these tumuli.

A mound is reported on Walnut Lake about six miles
from Dubbs, larger than the great Evansville mound.

Just south of Hollywood, Tunica County, at the railway
mile-post marked N. O. 420 is a mound about 14 feet high
with a negro burying-ground on top of it. The railway
comes close up to the mound on the east and the highway is
but a short distance to the west of it. Scattered about are
many fragments of burnt clay, fewer potsherds, and still
fewer flint chips.
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Clarence B. Moore' in his explorations along the Missis-
sippi River investigated two mounds in Tunica County, one
on the Johnson place near Mhoon Landing, the other near
Commerce. His report is condensed in the following para-
graphs:

About two miles east by north from Mhoon Landing,
Tunica Co., is a mound in a cultivated field which forms part
of the plantation of Mr. W. M. Johnson. This mound, about
13 feet high and 120 and 150 feet in diameter of base, has
been spread by the long-continued cultivation, doubtless with
considerable impairment of height. A number of trial-holes
sunk into this mound soon came upon raw clay where there
was no likelihood of encountering a burial.

Surrounding the mound is a considerable aboriginal
dwelling-site, part of which on a slope has been subjected to
much wash of rain, judging from the quantity of fragments
of human bones on the surface. Superficially on this site, on
which lay considerable debris, were gathered by us: a flint
drill; a barbed arrow-head of flint; a pebble on which a cut-
ting edge had been ground; numerous fragments of pottery
colored red, and some showing stripes of white and red; a
modeled earthen-ware head of some animal, colored red in
places, and having protruding eyes coated with white
pigment. Apart from human remains, in the soil was a pipe
of earthen-ware, having a flat base protruding slightly beyond
the bowl.

Unfortunately at this place, which has long been under
cultivation, most of the burials, in all probability, had been
ploughed and washed away. Diligent work over all parts of
the site came upon four burials, one the bones of a young
child. With the child’s burial was a small vase coated with
red pigment, and many fragments of another vessel. No
artifacts lay with the other burials.

'‘Moore: Some Aborig. Sites on Miss. River, Philadelphia, 1911, pages 411,412,
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Commerce, Tunica Co., is a small town on a great plan-
tation belonging to Mr. R. F. Abbey. About three-quarters
of a mile in a southerly direction from the landing is a mound
on cultivated ground, which has been very symmetrical and
is still imposing in appearance, though the corners are some-
what rounded. This mound has been extensively used for
burials in recent times. Its height is slightly more than 20
feet. Its sides face the cardinal points, approximately, meas-
uring north and south 193 feet, east and west 173; the sum-
mit-plateau in the same directions measuring 114 feet and
83 feet.

Near this mound is a limited area of artificially made high
ground, on which lay some fragments of pottery, a few flint
pebbles, and much baked clay, remains of aboriginal fire-
places, broadly scattered by the plow.

Two and one-half working days were devoted by us to
the dwelling-sites at this place. The twenty-nine burials
found were rather widely scattered; some were near the sur-
face and had been disturbed by the plow, the land having been
long in cultivation; it is likely that many burials have been
ploughed away in the past. Fragments of human bones lay
in all directions over the sites.

But little successful work could be done with the sound-
ing rod at this place owing to the number of fire-places below
the surface, whose hardened clay impeded the passage of the
rod. Consequently, trial-holes were practically our only
means of discovering burials. A number of burials were
found, including one cremation. The cremated bones, in
rather small fragments, formed a mass about 20 inches long,
14 inches wide, with a maximum thickness of 2 inches.

Twelve vessels were found by us at this place. These ves-
sels consist of eleven bowls of moderate size and one flat
bowl or platter. All are without decoration of any kind,
with the exception of one vessel covered with rude punctate
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marks and of another vessel with a fillet-like decoration
around the margin of the opening.

The sole burial having with it any object other than pot-
tery was that of a child about four years of age, which lay
at a depth greater than did any other burial found by us at
this site, namely 3 feet 8 inches. No pottery lay with this
interment, but on the chest was a face-shaped gorget about 5
inches long made from the body whorl of the conch (Fulgur
perversum). This ornament has two holes for suspension at
the top, or broader end. The decoration consists of a scallop-
like carving on the lower ends of both lateral margins, and
traces of workmanship intended to represent a nose and
mouth on one flat side.

At the left side of the pelvis of this burial, where the left
hand rested, was a ceremonial axe of a silicious conglom-
erate, of the hoe-shaped class, 4 inches in length and 3 inches
in maximum breadth of blade. The perforation usually
found on axes of this kind is absent. The size of this little
axe, much smaller than is usual with axes of this kind, marks
it as a toy and quite in keeping with the age of the child
to whom it belonged.

Near the two groups just described from Moore is a
third and more interesting group which Moore seems not to
have visited or mentioned. This group, which the author
examined in September, 1923, is situated on Mr. G. D.
Perry’s land, and is two or three miles west of Bowdre and
about the same distance north of Hollywood, standing just
west of Mound Bayou and about three-eighths of a mile north
of the section-line road.

" The group (fig. 24) consists of a large central mound
with a rectangular embankment or series of small mounds
surrounding it. The accompanying sketch is merely approxi-
mate; no measurements were taken of the outlying works
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because of the heavy cotton. The measurements of the
mound are as follows:

“side at base at top
south side ........ 200 feet ....... 128 feet
east side ......... 180 feet ...... 106 feet
north side ... ....160 feet ....... 100 feet
west side ........ 160 feet ....... 90 feet

The corners have been so worn and rounded by culti-
vation and the weeds and cotton were so tall that accurate
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Fic. 24. Bowdre Mounds, Tunica Co.
C. A. B.

measurements were impossible. The height is 22 feet. The
top of the mound has been cultivated, tho it was not in cul-
tivation in 1923.

The surrounding earth-works are not a uniform earth-
wall, but a series of mounds or elevations more or less
elongated and sometimes connected by lower elevations.
These mounds are higher on the east and west, reaching in
some cases six or eight feet; less prominent on the north
and south. All were in cotton in 1923 except those on the
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east along the bayou. Two of those on the east hold tenant

"houses and one a barn. Some of the tumuli on the west are
burial mounds, as evidenced by the human bones and pottery
fragments.

Within the enclosure, north of the big mound, are at
least three small mounds or elevations.

Among the surface finds were several small smooth stone
disks, two chipped and partially polished stone implements
about three inches long similar to those from Walls, and an
unfinished bead made of a clear quartz crystal 1.75 inches
long.

Mr. Charles A. Barton calls these the De Be Voise
mounds from the former owner of the land and gives the
location as the south-west quarter of Sec. 33, T. 3 S,, R. 11
W. Mr. Barton enumerates several other small mounds in
this vicinity.

Walls, in DeSoto Co., a short distance south of the Ten-
nessee line, has proved to be a most interesting archeological
field. In the vicinity are numerous mounds and extensive
burial-grounds. ’

About a mile and a half west of the station is a group of
mounds on the largest of which stands the residence of Mr.
Richard Cheatham. This mound has been slightly cut down
and leveled to a height of about 5.5 feet. Nothing was found
in the great mound. Circling this large mound were a num-
ber of small ones, several of which may still be seen to the
south of the dwelling. From one of the small mounds to
the west in the lot were taken several clay vessels, some of
them prettily decorated with incised lines. '

Farther on, four or five miles west by north-west from
the station and in sight of the levee, almost in the very north-
west corner of the state, is a large cemetery from which much
pottery and many other artifacts have been taken. The sur-
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face of the field is somewhat uneven. Many bones, flakes
of flint, and potsherds lie scattered about, and beds of ashes
are frequently encountered. The bodies lie from one and
a half to two feet beneath the surface. No particular ori-
entation seems to have been observed in placing the bodies;

T1e. 25, Mound near Walls, De Soto Co., 1917. C. S. B.

heads lie toward every point of the compass. The pottery
is generally found near the head of the skeleton.

An old log house stands upon the first mound. Farther
on toward the levee is a mound (fig. 25) probably 20 feet
high with an apron or platform of about half that height
extending off toward the west. Targe trees stand upon the
mound. Half a mile farther on just across the Tennessee line
at Blue Goose is another large mound.

The culture of the Walls people would seem to be entirely
old; so far as I know no post-Columbian material has been
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found there. In the chapter on pottery 1 give many illus-
trations of the earthen-ware of this culture, and in other
chapters additional examples of artifacts. Iig. 26 shows
some skulls.

F1e. 26. Skulls from graves at Walls, De Soto Co.

About five miles south of the Walls field and about a
mile north-east of Lake Cormorant in the same county is a
rise of ground along the railroad, in which the fine massive
pipe illustrated in figure 210 was found. Five or six mounds
are reported about Lake Cormorant.



CHAPTER 1L

ARROW-HEADS, SPEAR-HEADS, AND
PERFORATORS.

The small flint points usually called Indian arrow-heads
together with the accompanying flint chips are the most
numerous of the prehistoric remains to be found in this coun-
try. There is hardly a section of the state in which some of
these flaked points have not been found. The implements of
wood, the leather, and the woven fabrics of prehistoric man
have generally disappeared; metal, with the exception of cop-
per in very small quantity, was scarcely known; the pottery
has for the most part been broken and the fragments are
passed by unobserved. Hence of all the artifacts of the
Amerind stone implements and weapons are by far the most
numerous, and as there were undoubtedly more of the small
flint implements than of the large stone axes and celts, these
small projectile-points are now the commonest remains of the
red man to be found.

They exist in great variety of form and size, ranging
from small bird-points half an inch long to immense spear-
heads eight inches long and longer. The point illustrated in
figure 30 is 7.25 inches long; the flint knife from Haynes
Bluff illustrated in figure 59 is 8.25 inches long. As to form,
the variety is almost infinite, hardly any two being exactly
alike. Some are broad and triangular, others are long and
slender; many are sharp-pointed, others blunt or rounded;
some are notched near the base, others are without notches
and neck. Yet with all the seeming variety most of the forms
may be derived from a few elemental types. Mr. Gerard
Fowke' gives four simple forms from which all the small flint

'Fowke: Prehistoric Objects Classified and Described, Bull. I, Mo. Hist. Soc.,
St. Louis, 1913.
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implements may be fashioned with a few touches of the
flaking implement.

Flint points are found on the surface, in the Indian
graves, and in the mounds; there is no difference in type in
regard to these three methods of occurrence; those in the
mounds and in the graves differ in no respect from those
scattered upon the surface of the fields and woods.

The commonest materials of which arrow-points are made
are flint, chert, and jasper, while poorer stones are occa-
sionally employed. Relatively few white quartz points are
found in the state. Obsidian, so commonly used in the West
and in Mexico, is seldom if ever found; the present writer
has never found an ob